Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

جامعة الملك سعود King Saud University

Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences

journal homepage: www.sciencedirect.com



Review

Is the rhizosphere a source of applicable multi-beneficial microorganisms for plant enhancement?



Imane Chamkhi ^{a,b,*}, Nasreddine El Omari ^c, Abdelaali Balahbib ^d, Naoual El Menyiy ^e, Taoufiq Benali ^f, Cherki Ghoulam ^{b,g}

^a Geo-Biodiversity and Natural Patrimony Laboratory (GeoBio), Geophysics, Natural Patrimony Research Center (GEOPAC), Scientific Institute, Mohammed V University in Rabat, Morocco

^b University Mohammed VI Polytechnic, Agrobiosciences Program, Lot 660, Hay Moulay Rachid, Benguerir, Morocco

^c Laboratory of Histology, Embryology, and Cytogenetic, Faculty of Medicine and Pharmacy, Mohammed V University in Rabat, Morocco

^d Laboratory of Zoology and General Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Mohammed V University in Rabat, Rabat, Morocco

^e Faculty of Science, University Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdellah, Fez, Morocco

^fEnvironment and Health Team, Polydisciplinary Faculty of Safi, Cadi Ayyad University, Safi, Morocco

^g Cadi Ayyad University, Faculty of Sciences and Techniques, PO Box 549, Gueliz, Marrakech, Morocco

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 June 2021 Revised 12 September 2021 Accepted 13 September 2021 Available online 20 September 2021

Keywords: Plant-microbes interactions Rhizosphere Microorganisms Plant growth promoting microbes

ABSTRACT

The plant faces different pedological and climatic challenges that influence its growth and enhancement. While, plant-microbes interactions throught the rhizosphere offer several privileges to this hotspot in the service of plant, by attracting multi-beneficial mutualistic and symbiotic microorganisms as plant growth-promoting bacteria (PGPB), archaea, mycorrhizal fungi, endophytic fungi, and others...). Currently, numerous investigations showed the beneficial effects of these microbes on growth and plant health. Indeed, rhizospheric microorganisms offer to host plants the essential assimilable nutrients, stimulate the growth and development of host plants, and induce antibiotics production. They also attributed to host plants numerous phenotypes involved in the increase the resistance to abiotic and biotic stresses. The investigations and the studies on the rhizosphere can offer a way to find a biological and sustainable solution to confront these environmental problems. Therefore, the interactions between microbes and plants may lead to interesting biotechnological applications on plant improvement and the adaptation in different climates to obtain a biological sustainable agricultures without the use of chemical fertilizers. © 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	1247
2.	The rhizosphere : Derived from close soilplant association	1248
3.	Bacteria- plant interactions in the rhizosphere	1248
	3.1. Beneficial effects of PGPR application on the plant	1248
	3.1.1. Plant growth and development	1248

Abbreviations: AMF, Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi; AOA, Ammonia-Oxidizing Archaea; BMV, Brome Mosaic Virus; C, Carbon; CMV, Cucumber mosaic virus; LDH, Layered double hydroxides; MF, Mycorrhizal fungi; P, Phosphorus; PAL, L-Phenylalanine Ammonia Lyase; PGPR, Plant Growth-Promoting Rhizobacteria; PCA, Phenazine-1-Carboxylic Acid; POX, Peroxidase; PPO, Polyphenol Oxidase.

* Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: imane.chamkhi@gmail.com, imane.chamkhi@ump6.ma (I. Chamkhi).

Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University.



Production and hosting by Elsevier

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2021.09.032

1319-562X/© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

	3.1.2. Plant protection	1249
4.	Archaeal-plant interactions in the rhizosphere	1250
	4.1. Beneficial effects of archaebacteria on plants	1250
	4.1.1. Effects on plants growth and development	1250
	4.1.2. Effects on plant protection	1250
5.	Fungal-plant interactions in the rhizosphere	1250
	5.1. Beneficial effects of fungi on plants and their applications	1250
	5.1.1. Symbiotic fungi: Mycorrhizal fungi (MF)	1250
	5.1.2. Other endophytic fungi	1252
6.	Effects induced by other living organisms or microorganisms on plant-microbes interactions in the rhizosphere	1253
	6.1. Effect of saprophytic fungi on plants	1253
	6.2. Interactions of rhizosphere fauna with beneficial microorganisms	1253
7.	Viral-plant interactions: Virus as an elicitor/inductor of host plant metabolites	1254
8.	Rhizospheric microorganisms: Perspectives for a biological agriculture	1254
9.	Conclusion and future perspectives	1255
	Declaration of Competing Interest	1255
	References	1255

1. Introduction

The rhizosphere is the area of the soil influenced by plant roots, where plant roots and soil composition interact with each other (Lynch and de Leij, 2012). It represents a dynamic hotspot for interactions between roots and beneficial, as pathogenic soil microbes.

However, it is a gathering of several microorganisms such as bacteria, archaea, fungi, nematodes, protozoa, and other organisms that interact with each other, some are beneficial whereas others are harmful (Pathan et al., 2020). May be considered beneficial or neutral, or harmful to the plant, depending on the specific microorganisms and plants involved and on the prevailing environmental conditions (Jones and Hinsinger, 2008).

Roots exudates such as sugars, amino acids, organic acids, phenolic compounds, enzymes, phytohormones, and vitamin can attract several microorganisms, and can also act as signal molecules mediating interactions in the rhizosphere (Olanrewaju et al., 2019). The chemical signaling, between plant roots soil organisms, and the neighboring by plant roots may elicit dissimilar responses from different receivers (Canarini et al., 2019). Indeed, the chemical components of root exudates may deter some microorganisms, while attracting another organism, may be classified as either positive associations (mutualistic or symbiotic associations) or negative associations (competition, parasitism among plants or pathogenesis) (Bais et al., 2006).

In general, in the rhizosphere, the negative associations express virulence on only a limited number of host species and it is estimated that only about 2% of the known fungal species are able to colonize plants and cause diseases (Nihorimbere et al., 2011).

Otherwise, the microbial interactions in the rhizosphere are often of benefit to plants, improve soil fertility, enhance the degradation of toxic chemicals (Lynch and de Leij, 2012; Xiong et al., 2020) and the secondary metabolites induction of the plant (Chamkhi et al., 2021). However, root-associated microbiota in the rhizosphere play important roles and positively influence the health and the growth of their host plant through various mechanisms. The promotion of plant growth by microorganisms is based on a better acquisition of nutrients, hormonal stimulation and several direct or indirect mechanisms linked to plant growth, and could be involved in the reduction/suppression of plant pathogens (VelĂzquez et al., 2005; Berg, 2009).

Plant-beneficial microbial interactions can be roughly divided into four categories: (i) the microorganisms in association with plants, are responsible for its nutrition, (ii) the microorganisms that stimulate plant growth indirectly by preventing the growth or activity of pathogens, (iii) the microorganisms responsible for direct growth promotion, for example, by the production of phytohormones (Nihorimbere et al., 2011; Okon et al., 2015).

Indeed, the most root microbial associations in the rhizosphere are bacterial associations or rhizobacteria. They provide benefits to the plant resulting in its growth stimulation and are recognized as plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) (Bais et al., 2006; Okon et al., 2015). The PGPR can be divided into two groups according to their residing sites: first, symbiotic bacteria, which live inside the plant cells in produced nodules (Hayat et al., 2010) as rhizobia-legume interactions leading to establishment of atmospheric nitrogen fixing symbiose in root nodules as for Sinorhizobium meliloti- alfalfa and Rhizobium leguminosarum- faba bean (Bais et al., 2006; Masciarelli et al., 2014). On the other hand, the second group is free-living rhizobacteria, which live outside the plant cells and did not produce nodules. But still, prompt plant growth promotors such as Azotobacter, Azospirillum, Bacillus, and Klebsiella sp. are also used as biofertilizers to inoculate a large area of arable land in the world to enhance plant productivity (Dobbelaere et al., 2001; Vessey, 2003; Hayat et al., 2010). Indeed, the bacteria in the rhizosphere or rhizobacteria or plant promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) can play an important role in the growth, the health, and in promoting nutrient acquisition by plants via several beneficial direct and indirect mechanisms (Singh et al., 2011).

Contrary to the rhizobacteria, the Archaea is much less in the rhizosphere. They were discovered especially in extreme environments, known to be essential actors in global processes, such as nitrification and ammonification in soils (Leininger et al., 2006). Furthermore, plant-fungal interactions include mycorrhizal fungi (MF) that interact in symbiosis with the roots of the plant and endophytic fungi that live inside living tissue of leaves, stems, or roots (Zeilinger et al., 2016). Likewise rhizobium bacteria, fungi can form symbiotic associations with plants, known as a mycorrhizal association, in which the interaction is between mycelial fungi and plants. Contrary to legume-rhizobia association, the mycorrhizal association is pervasive and can colonize nearly 80% of angiosperms and all gymnosperms plants. This mutualistic association can provide to the plant, phosphorus, water, and other micronutrient acquisitions by increasing the root surface. In return, the fungi receive fixed carbon from the host plant (Datta et al., 2020). On the other hand, endophytic fungi have been detected

in hundreds of plants and different studies demonstrated that they produce a large number of interesting secondary metabolites with interesting proprieties which can be used as a natural bioactive source (Aly et al., 2010; Chamkhi et al., 2018).

As mentioned earlier, the rhizosphere is a hotspot gathering of several organisms such as protozoa and nematodes, that can play an important role complementary to the role of bacteria and fungi, as the remobilization of nutrients from consumed bacterial biomass, the nutrient mineralization in soil, and enhanced plant N uptake, and offered a strong stimulation of lateral root growth in presence of protozoa (Bonkowski and Clarholm, 2012).

This review focuses on the rhizosphere, particularly microbe and root interactions, the principal interactions that could play a very important role in the growth and the health of the plants and their applications, including some examples of how these interactions can be affected and used to improve crops of sustainable agriculture.

2. The rhizosphere : Derived from close soilplant association

The interaction of soil physicochemical properties and plant root exudates can determine the composition of microbial communities associated with roots in the rhizosphere (Fig. 1), and can also be selecting a specific microbial composition by creating niche environments. Although, soil pH and nutriments availability affect the abundance of crop pathogenic bacteria, fungi, and nematodes as well as beneficial microbes (Dumbrell et al., 2010). In addition, soil interactions with plant root exudates can create a rhizosphere environment that gradually alters the soil biome to promote the establishment of a rhizobiome and affect the composition of rhizosphere communities depending on soil types and plant species (Tkacz et al., 2015).

The compounds of plant root exudates alter soil chemistry and provide nutrient sources for microbes in the rhizosphere (Miransari, 2013), that create a selective environment for those microbes which, due to further adaptation, have evolved mechanisms to colonize the plant root or to live in the rhizosphere (Bever et al., 2012). Predominantly, plant-derived compounds can modify the bacterial diversity by stimulating or inhibiting different community members, which indicate that particular types of exudates attract or repel specific microbes (Berendsen et al., 2012). Thus, the rhizosphere is an area of recruit beneficial microbes of the plants by using root exudates to attract mutualistic interactions to enhance plant protection against pathogens or improve the growth through nutrient acquisition abilities (Oldroyd, 2013).



Fig. 1. Microbial community of rhizosphere.

3. Bacteria- plant interactions in the rhizosphere

In the rhizosphere, plantbacterial interactions, allow roots to recruit beneficial soil bacteria. from divers range of genera (Azotobacter, Klebsiella, Streptomyces, Bacillus megaterium (B. megaterium) and Pseudomonas spp) due to their important functions to enhance plant growth and development (Rudrappa et al., 2008)., Indeed, bacteria such as PGPR species have been applied to soils to specifically enhance the plants through divers beneficial mechanisms such as solubilizing inorganic phosphates, producing phytohormones (auxins, cytokinins, and gibberellins), fixing atmospheric nitrogen, increasing iron nutrition through chelators (siderophores) and also production of antibiotics to suppress antagonistic pathogens, competition for space and nutrients, the induction of systemic resistance in plants against a broad spectrum of leaf pathogens, and the reduction populations of root pathogens and other harmful microorganisms in the rhizosphere (Solano et al., 2008; Nihorimbere et al., 2011; Bhattacharyya and Jha, 2012; Kang et al., 2014; Goswami et al., 2016). Generally, all PGPR actions have an observable effect on the different parameters of plant health and growth (yield of cultivated plants, and fruits) (Bais et al., 2006; Singh et al., 2011; Jha and Saraf, 2015; Xiong et al., 2020).

3.1. Beneficial effects of PGPR application on the plant

3.1.1. Plant growth and development

Nutrient uptake

The function of biofertilizers is to promote plant growth by supplying nutrients to the host.

The absorption of mineral nutrients is mainly carried out by the roots *via* exchanges with bacteria from the rhizospheric soil. In 1995, researchers were interested in studying the interactin (Belimov et al., 1995) on effect between mixed cultures of nitrogen-fixing bacteria (*Arthrobacter mysorens* and *Azospirillum lipoferum*) and phosphate-solubilizing bacteria (*Agrobacterium radiobacter*) on the nutrition and yield of two barley cultivars (Belimov et al., 1995).

Hence, the combined inoculation recorded an increase in grain yield and an accumulation of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizer in both plants, which provided balanced nutrition, confirmed by the investigation of the effect of rhizobacterium *Variovorax paradoxus* effect on pea plants (*Pisum sativum*) inoculated in drying soil. Consequently, the strain improved the roots length and the efficiency of water use in droughted peas (1620%) via nodulation and systemic and local hormonal signaling (Belimov et al., 2009).

Thereafter, in the rhizosphere of *Anthyllis cytisoides*, between three types of microorganisms (PGPR, Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF), and *Rhizobium* spp.) isolated from an area with a semi-arid Mediterranean ecosystem, the double and the triple inoculations of the different microbial groups were assayed by evaluating P and N absorption, nitrogen fixation, root system efficiency, and biomass production. Indeed, the combinations tested were effective in promoting plant performance through nitrogen fixation, nutrient absorption, and root development (Requena et al., 1997).

Moreover, to improve the growth of sea oats (*Uniola paniculata* L.), *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (*K. pneumoniae*) was chosen as inoclum. Consequently, *K. pneumoniae* increased the growth of shoots and roots, and also that of the plant with the presence of high phosphorus (P) content in the sand (Will and Sylvia, 1990).

As its known, root nodulation is necessary for legume plants growth particularly under nitrogen deficiency. The implication of synergistic PGPR in this process has been reported. Indeed, the frequency of *Pisum sativum* root nodulation was importantly increased after inoculation with *Streptomyces lydicus* (Tokala et al., 2002). Furthermore, this colonization increased the size of the nodules and improved the vigor of the nodular bacteroids which assimilate Fe and other soil inorganic nutrients, subsequently promoting the growth of pea plants (Tokala et al., 2002). Likewise, the genus *Burkholderia* used phytate (Na-IHP) to ensure a P supply for *Lotus japonicus* plants (Unno et al., 2005) and the researchers found that some isolates used Na-IHP as a source of carbon (C) and some others improved plant growth, with a strain (FpRpG4) that increased shoot length, P content, and plant dry weight.

Promoted uptake

It has been shown that the interaction between Vibrio campbeilii (V. campbeili) and Listonella anguillarum (L. anguillarum), two new N₂-fixing bacteria isolated from the roots of mangrove plants, with a non-diazotrophic bacterium (*Staphylococcus* sp.) increased the ability of *L. anguillarum* (17%) to fix nitrogen and decreased that of *V. campbellii* (15%) (Holguin et al., 1992). This indicated that the N₂-fixing activity observed in the rhizosphere of mangroves is attributed to the combination of interactions between the different strains of the rhizosphere community.

Other rhizosphere strains affiliated with Agromyces, Streptomyces, Flavobacterium, Serratia, Janthinobacterium, and Pseudomonas showed the ability to enhance the absorption of heavy metals by willows (Salix caprea (S. caperea)). This phenotype involves the capacity of these bacterial strains to synthesize ACC deaminase, IAA, and siderophores as well as to tolerate Zn, Cd, and Pb (Kuffner et al., 2008). In the same investigation, the tested bacteria have exhibited significant resistance to high concentrations of Zn with an ability to produce siderophores and IAA, and to mobilize Zn and Cd extracted from contaminated soil. Moreover, Agromyces AR33 strain doubled the extractability of both metals and improved the growth of S. caprea seedlings. Otherwise, Streptomyces AR17 improved the metals uptake (Kuffner et al., 2008). It is known that Zn is essential for the formation of auxins (regulator of plant growth). The contents of Zn are under regulation of lavered double hydroxides (LDH) intercalated with phosphate (LDH-P) and nitrate (LDH-N) (Shafigh et al., 2019). It has been shown that some PGPR as Pseudomonas fluorescens (P. fluorescens) P52, P. putida P19, and Pseudomonas sp. A5 induce Zn accumulation of maize plants and promote their growth. Indeed, three strains tested showed an accelerated increase in the cumulative Zn content over time in the presence of PGPR. In plants treated with LDH-N, the strains increased the Zn concentration, while no significant effect was noted in those treated with LDH-P (Shafigh et al., 2019).

Phytohormone-producing

Moreover, the major part of PGPRs were classified as phytostimulators. Indeed, the ability of rhizobacteria, as *Azotobacter chroococcum*, *B. megaterium*, and *B. mucilaginosus* to synthesize phytohormones such as indole acetic acid (IAA) and cytokinins (CKs) can regulate plant growth (Blom et al., 2011; Sokolova et al., 2011).

Phytohormones production by the rhizobacteria raised plant growth characteristics due to the elevation of the IAA and CKs content that influences the elevation in the root mass as well as to the stimulation of seed germination, especially during the vegetative period (M≈ller et al., 1989; Sokolova et al., 2011). Inoculation of cucumber (*Cucumis sativus* L.) plants increased the content of CKs and IAA in them by 35.6 and 21.3%, respectively, that caused growth stimulation through and stimulated seed germination and increased the growth rate, the biomass of shoots, the number of lateral roots, and the root hair area, which ensured better plant nutrition (Sokolova et al., 2011).

In addition, plant growth-promoting traits like the production of ammonia, hydrogen cyanide (HCN), IAA, solubilization of inorganic phosphate, and production of bioactive metabolites (siderophore, biosurfactant, and phenazine) recognized in certain bacteria as *Pseudomonas* spp. MCC 3145 for wich the inoculation stimulated the germination of mung bean (*Vigna radiata*) seeds and increased root length with a marked tolerance against agricultural contaminants such as metals, salt, pesticides, and herbicides. Additionally, this organism produced phenazine-1-carboxylic acid (PCA) with fungicidal (against phytopathogens) and anticancer activities (Patil et al., 2017)

On the other hand, salinity is an abiotic constraint negatively affecting plants development and limits their productivity. However, the presence of salt-resistant bacteria in saline environment could improve growing conditions and plant health giving more importance to inoculation with well adapted rhizobacteria. Thus, many studies have aimed at selection of salt tolerant bacteria through the evaluation of their tolerance capacity to different level of salinity (Shukla et al., 2012; Nautival et al., 2013). Halotolerant PGPR include several strains as Agrobacterium tumefaciens, Zhinguelliuella, Brachybacterium saurashtrense, Vibrio, Brevibacterium casei, and Haererohalobacter (Shukla et al., 2012), and B. amyloliquefaciens (Nautiyal et al., 2013). These salt-tolerant bacteria increased plant growth and expression of about 14 genes having a significant effect in salt stress adaptation. Eventually, improving the salt stress in rice required modulation of the differential transcription of 14 genes, an increase in ACC deaminase activity and chlorophyll content, an accumulation of proline, as well as a stimulation of osmoprotectant utilizing rhizosphere microflora. Moreover, the increase of soil salinity leads to a decrease in its water availability and subsequently to the plant drought, which negatively affects their yield and growth.

Indeed, under drought stress, the PGPR inoculation considerably improved the various parameters negatively altered by this constraint such as membrane integrity, water status, growth parameters, and modification of the expression of genes sensitive to stress. Consequently, the inoculation effect of PGPRs strains (*Flavobacterium* sp., *Enterobacter ludwigii*, and *Klebsiella* sp.) improved drought tolerance in wheat by enhancing plant recovering and reducing transcript levels (Gontia-Mishra et al., 2016).

3.1.2. Plant protection

In their environment, plants effectively resist pathogens via several mechanisms including communication with bacteria in their rhizospheres and rarely develop severe symptoms of the disease. Therefore, rhizospheric bacteria could be exploited as a strategy for protecting crops against pathogens. Indeed, like *P. fluorescens* (Quadt-Hallmann et al., 1997). Other *Pseudomonas* sp. increased the resistance of inoculated tomato plants, against *Verticillium dahliae* (Sharma and Nowak, 1998). Furtheremore, *P. chlororaphis* PCL1391 and *P. fluorescens* protect the same plant species against *Fusarium oxysporum* f. Sp. *Radicis-lycopersici* (FORL), which attacks the roots causing serious damage (Bolwerk et al., 2003). The protection mechanism involves the reduction of FORL's pathogenicity *via* phenazine-1-carboxamide (PCN) produced by the strain *P. chlororaphis* (Bolwerk et al., 2003).

Similarly, the PGPR strains including *P. aeruginosa* and *B. cereus*, recording of important activities of defense against *Fusarium udum* that infecting the root vessels *via* the production of two enzymes (polymethyl galacturonase and -1,3-glucanase). Indeed, the lifespan of plants with the combined inoculation of Rhizobium and PGPR was greater than the individual inoculation, with recording of important activities of defense-related enzymes, namely, polyphenol oxidase (PPO), peroxidase (POX), and L-phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL). Similarly, both *B. cereus* strain and *P. aeruginosa* strain drastically reduced the production of the pathogen's enzymes. Overall, the combined treatment of these strains has

induced systemic resistance against pigeon pea (*Cajanus cajan* L.) wilt (Dutta et al., 2008).

4. Archaeal-plant interactions in the rhizosphere

According to the literature, archaea are not widely found in soils at the level of the rhizosphere compared to other bacteria which colonize it in a significant way. This is mainly due to the origin of archaea which dates back to 1977. Indeed, these microorganisms are associated with extreme environments and they are considered as engines of reactions for the environmental recycling of certain atoms between the organic and mineral forms. These phenomena include anaerobic digestion (Erkel et al., 2006), nitrification in the ocean (Wuchter et al., 2006). and ammonification in soils (Leininger et al., 2006). At the level of the rhizosphere, the presence of archaea had remained largely unknown until the 90s. Indeed, when researchers started to use molecular hybridization techniques, certain research groups have confirmed the presence of archaea, in particular Crenarcheoata and Euryarcheota, at the rhizosphere ground level using amplification and hybridization of the 16S rRNA gene (Bintrim et al., 1997;Borneman and Triplett, 1997; Jurgens et al., 1997). Subsequently, other studies have reported the presence of Archaea genomic sequences, in the rhizosphere, in the roots of certain plants. This is the case for example of Crenarcheota non thermophilic found by (Simon et al., 2001) in tomato roots with a percentage of 4 and 16%. In addition, other Archaea genomic sequences have been identified (only 0.16%) in the rhizosphere in the roots of Festuca ovina (Ochsenreiter et al., 2003).

4.1. Beneficial effects of archaebacteria on plants

Although that the role of archaea in the rhizosphere, in association with plant roots, is not yet known. Some studies showed that they can contribute in the renewal of nutrients and maintenance of important ecological functions in the plants roots. Moreover, Archaea colonization of rhizosphere depends on several factors, especially on biotic and abiotic factors (Taffner et al., 2018). In fact, Archaea constitute a substantial component of the plant microbiome without causing negative effects on these host plants. Their effects (negative or beneficial) on the host, and/or on abiotic and biotic factors conditioning the composition of the community at the level of the rhizosphere, remains largely unknown.

4.1.1. Effects on plants growth and development

Few studies are available on archaea as plant growth promoting, which includes Indole acetic acids production, nitrogen fixation by methanogens, siderophore production, and phosphorus solubilization by *Haloarchaea* (Yadav et al., 2015; Yadav et al., 2017). In the domain of agriculture, archaea have been used in nitrogen cycle, especially ammonia oxidation and global methane cycle (Nettmann et al., 2010). Moreover, Taffner and collaborators revealed recently that archaea colonize importantly alpine. Indeed, the authors showed that these archaea species interact with host plants at the rhizosphere and exhibit different functions such as promotion of plants growth *via* the stimulation of auxin biosynthesis and nutrient supply (Taffner et al., 2018).

4.1.2. Effects on plant protection

In the rhizosphere of rice plants, ammonia-oxidizing archaea (AOA) were found to be dominant and indicate a profound plantarchaea interaction (Chen et al., 2008). In fact, AOA, known as major drivers of ammonia oxidation (Radax et al., 2012), present interactions based essentially on syntrophic nitrogen cycling (Treusch et al., 2005; Francis et al., 2007). Because of their evolutionarily adaptation to different extreme environmental stress,

archaea contribute also to mediate the resistance to stress in host plants (van de Vossenberg et al., 1998; Valentine, 2007). Moreover, it has recently been shown that the presence of different archaea in the rhizosphere induced the protection of alpine plants against abiotic stress via the regulation of oxidative stress and osmotic pressure (Taffner et al., 2018). On the other hand, the interaction of Archaea with host plants in the rhizosphere can induce the resistance against other microorganisms including bacteria. Indeed, Song et al., (2000) studied, for the first time, the interaction between soil archaea and Arabidopsis thaliana. Results demonstrated that soil archaea promote plant growth and trigger induced systemic resistance (ISR) against the necrotrophic bacterium Pectobacterium carotovorum subsp. Carotovorum SCC1 and biotrophic bacterium P. syringae pv. tomato DC3000. An increase of resistance against both pathogenic species via salicylic acid-independent signaling pathway was caused by AOA on Nitrosocosmicus oleophilus MY3 cells colonization of the root surface of Arabidopsis plants (Song et al., 2000).

5. Fungal-plant interactions in the rhizosphere

Rhizosphere fungal communities play a key role in terrestrial and agricultural ecosystems due to their several interactions with different plants (Medina et al., 2020). They are major decomposers and recyclers of different organic matter and they can interact in the rhizosphere with plant roots or in above-ground with plant components (Zeilinger et al., 2016). The plant-fungal interactions are complex and the results are diverse. They range from parasitism to mutualism associations (Medina et al., 2020).

5.1. Beneficial effects of fungi on plants and their applications

5.1.1. Symbiotic fungi: Mycorrhizal fungi (MF)

Mycorrhization is a mutualistic interaction, which has a net benefit for both parts through different nutritious biological activities; maily bio-fertilisation, bioprotection, and a bio-regulation of plant development (Chen et al., 2018).

Dissolution, acquisition of mineral nutrients, and absorption of water

Mycorrhizae play a very important role in the acquisition of mineral nutrients in the soil and can also actively release nutrients from mineral particles and rock surfaces across low molecular weight organic acids (Gryndler et al., 2005). However, plants alone are unable to optimize the uptake of mineral elements from the soil by the roots, such as phosphorus and nitrogen (Lambers et al., 2008). The fungal mycelial network can, therefore, have access to additional resources of mineral elements, which are then transmitted to the host plant (Jansa et al., 2014), under different agricol practices (Chamkhi et al., 2019).

In addition, mycorrhizae are known for their high water absorption function by the vast network of hyphae, which prospect the soil by exploiting a surface much larger than that traversed only by the plant roots (Govindarajulu et al., 2005). Moreover, the mycorrhization improves nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, and calcium woody nutrition. Improvements are observed in the ability to acquire iron, magnesium, and manganese by mycorrhized Jacaranda, which showed higher leaves and stem dry weights (Zaouchi et al. 2015).

Increase in resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses

In the desert regions, drought and salinity cause serious damage, making any agricultural activity difficult or impossible. Therefore, the use of MF is one of the promising biological means. MF have a range of effects that help improve various types of stress experienced by their host plants, including metal toxicity, oxidative stress (Abdel Latef and Chaoxing, 2011; Liu et al., 2014), temperature stress (Zhu et al., 2010; Pavithra and Yapa, 2018), and the effects of soil acidification (*via* the production of chelating agents) (Ouledali et al., 2018), regulation of genes that protect against Oxygen reactive species, protection against oxidative stress induced by toxic metals (Yan et al., 2019), and tolerance to water stress (Ruiz-Lozano et al., 2016; Abdel-Salam et al., 2018).

Drought stress

Several studies suggest that increased tolerance to water deficit in mycorrhized plants may involve the modulation of droughtinduced plant genes and this may play a role in enhancing tolerance to water and salt stress (Finlay, 2008; Santander et al., 2019), by controlling stomatal conductance and osmotic adjustment of the plant by the fungus under water stress (Ruiz-Lozano, 2003). On the other hand, it has been shown that AMF inoculated Ephedra foliate showed improved nitrogen metabolism by positively regulating nitrate and nitrite reductase activity, which results in greater ammonium availability for the synthesis of amino acids (Al-Arjani et al., 2020).

Inoculation with AMF also increased antioxidant enzyme activities, ascorbic acid contents, and reduction in glutathione level. Notably, the inoculated soybean (*Glycine* max L.) plants with MF revealed that fungi are able to increase plant stress tolerance by increasing the leaf proline concentration, photosynthetic rate, and growth parameters (leaf area index and relative growth rates) of soybean under drought stress (Pavithra and Yapa, 2018). Investigations on olive trees reported that the incolulation of fungi with AMF immediately alleviate drought impact, improve mineral uptake (K, N, Zn, and Fe), and increased turgor potential (p) (Ouledali et al., 2018).

The role of AMF in protecting host plants under drought stress was not well understood. However, some recent investigations suggested that inoculation of tomato with AMF for example alleviates the negative effects of drought by altering the hormonal profiles as well as plant physiology and development (Ruiz-Lozano et al., 2016). Moreover, on damask rose (*Rosa damascena* Mill.), it was suggested that AMF colonization can mitigate deleterious effects of drought stress by enhancing growth, flower quality, and adaptation of rose plants *via* improving their water relations and photosynthetic status (Abdel-Salam et al., 2018).

Temperature stress

Under low temperature induced stress, the AMF, Glomus etunicatum, improved water status of maize plants through decreasing water loss rate (Zhu et al., 2010). Moreover, Glomus mosseae colonization alleviated the damage caused by this stress on tomato plants by decreasing membrane lipid peroxidation, elevating the photosynthetic pigments, accumulation of osmotic adjustment compounds, and increasing antioxidant enzyme activities (Abdel Latef and Chaoxing, 2011). Including, AMF inoculation significantly decreased NADPH oxidase activity that is involved in H₂O₂ production and increased the ATPase activity, ATP concentration, and plasma membrane protein content in the roots of cucumber plants under low temperature (Liu et al., 2014). In additon to decrease of ROS activities and their generating system, AMP can also exhibite an antioxidant effect. Indeed, some investigations reported that the association of AMF, (Glomus fasciculatum) G. fasciculatum with cyclamen (Cyclamen persicum Mill.) plants alleviated heat stress damage through increased antioxidative activity and significantly enhanced temperature stress tolerance which promoted plant growth and elevated the host biomass under heat stress (Maya and Matsubara, 2013).

Symbiotic AMF relationship increased also grain number in wheat under heat-stress, altered nutrient allocation, and tiller nutrient composition (Cabral et al., 2016). Indeed, AMF also improved photosynthetic efficacy and led to higher production in biomass of plants for combat high temperature stress conditions (Mathur et al., 2018).

Salt stress

The effect of AMF on the plant's tolerance to salt stress is also studied in several works (Giri et al., 2007; Hajiboland et al., 2010; Sheng et al. 2011; Hashem et al., 2015; Hashem et al., 2018; Santander et al., 2019). Indeed, it has been reported that arbuscular mycorrhiza (*G. fasciculatum*) improved tolerance of *Acacia nilotica* to salt stress inducted by different salinity levels (1.2, 4.0, 6.5, and 9.5 dS m¹) (Giri et al., 2007). The authors attributed this effect to the improvement of P nutrition and K/Na ratios in root and shoot tissues of AM-inoculated plants that may be protected disruption of K-mediated enzymatic processes under salt stress conditions.

Mycorrhization alleviated also salt induced reduction of P, Ca, K uptake, Ca/Na, and K/Na ratios in tomato plants (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) (Hajiboland et al., 2010). It also improved the net assimilation rates through both elevating stomatal conductance and protecting photochemical processes of PSII against salinity. AMFinoculated *Panicum turgidum* alleviate salinity induced negative effects on the plant growth and nutrient uptake by altering photosynthetic and decreasing the oxidative damage through strengthening of the antioxidant system under saline conditions (Hashem et al., 2015).

Recently, the same group research reported that AMFinoculation of cucumber improves the negative impact of salinity stress by enhancing the biomass and activity of antioxidant enzymes as well as by accumulation of phenols and proline and enhancing of jasmonic acid, salicylic acid, and several important mineral elements (K, Ca, Mg, Zn, Fe, Mn, and Cu) in AMFinoculated plants (Hashem et al. (2018). Moreover, AMFinoculated lettuce had higher biomass production, with increased proline synthesis, elevated N uptake, and noticeable changes in ionic relations than those in non-mycorrhizal plants under stress conditions (Santander et al., 2019). In addition, mycorrhizal associations enhance the accumulation of organic solutes in leaves and increase the production of betaine resulting in up-regulation of the osmoregulation process in plants growing in saline soil (Sheng et al. 2011).

Metals stress

Several researches have demonstrated that the association between the fungi and the host plants improves the resistance of plants to metal stress and alleviation capability on contaminated soils (Yan et al., 2019). AMF association with Pot Marigold (Calendula officinalis L.) improved growth, yield, and phytoremediation performance of the plant in heavy metal stressed condition [0, Pb (150 and 300 mg/kg) and Cd (40 and 80 mg/kg)], by increasing heavy metals accumulation in the plant organs (Tabrizi et al., 2015). Moreover, *Glomus coronatum* enhances the copper tolerance of Tagetes patula through the sorption and barrier mechanisms of AMF intraradical hyphae resulting reduced Cu toxicity in the roots of the plant and eventually enhanced the plants Cu tolerance (Zhou et al. 2017). Also, Rhizophagus irregularis inoculation improve the growth and photosynthesis of Phragmites australis under copper stress (Wu et al. 2020). The strong effects of AMF (Glomus mosseae BEG167) on maize (Zea mays L.) plant development and growth under metals stress devalued using zinc, cadmium, and phosphorus at different levels, the mycorrhizal inoculation increases plant growth with improved P nutrition and lead to higher soil solution pH after harvest which can decrease the availability of the metals for plant uptake, and reduced the concentrations of soluble Zn and Cd in the soil solution (Shen et al., 2006). However, AM fungal inoculation significantly decreased the translocation factor of trigonella plants and increased malondialdehyde content and antioxidant enzyme activities. It also increased growth parameters, chlorophyll, and protein contents in the host plant under Cd stress (Abdelhameed and Metwally, 2019).

Effect on soil structure and aggregate stability

The mycorrhizal fungal hyphae develop a complex and branched network in the surrounding soil until 30 m of fungal hyphae per gram of soil, this network can constitute up to 50% fungal mycelium in the soil. This mycelial network can contribute to soil structure improvement (Gianinazzi et al., 2010). In addition, AMF produce a glycoprotein, glomalin hydrophobic, and sticky protein substances, that contribute to soil stability and water retention. The combination of an extensive hyphal network and glomaline secretion is considered to be important to help stabilize soil aggregates, structural stability, and the quality (Miller and Jastrow, 2000). A reduction in fungal biomass will negatively affect soil stability and therefore increase the risk of soil erosion. The study of Bearden and Petersen, (2000) demonstrated that AMF contribute significantly to the stabilization of soil aggregates in a vertisol, while the effect was significant after only one growing season, associated with both AM hyphae and the stimulation of root growth by AMF.

5.1.2. Other endophytic fungi

The different groups of fungi can have an impact on the ecology, physical form, and shape of plant communities, conferring resistance to abiotic (temperature, pH, osmotic pressure), and biotic (bacteria, fungi, nematodes, and insects) (Bano et al., 2016). In addition, endophytes fungi are able to synthesize bioactive compounds, which can be used by plants for defense against pathogens and motivate plant growth (Pavithra et al., 2012).

Increase of resistance to abiotic stresses The plants are exposed to several abiotic stresses during their

growth and development such as drought, metal, cold, hot temperature, and salinity (Venugopalan and Srivastava, 2015), which are able to modulate genetic regulation of cellular pathways that result from the reactive oxygen species accumulation, as well as imbalance in hormone and membrane dysfunction. However, endophytic and MF can increase stress tolerance in their host plants across additional defensive mechanisms on the plant immune system *via* influencing the direct antimicrobial metabolites such as alkaloids to indirect phytohormones as jasmonic acid, or salicylic acid (Yan et al., 2019).

Drought stress

Several experiments revealed that inoculation of maize and rice with the fungus help the plants to resist better to drought conditions using different mechanisms (Hosseini et al., 2018; Pandey et al., 2016a). Hosseini et al. (2018) reported that maize roots colonized by an endophytic fungus P. indica were better adapted to drought stress induced by PEG 6000 solution with osmotic potentials of 0.3 and 0.5 MPa, and mechanical stress by placing weights on the surface of the sand medium. The inoculated plants had greater root volume, leaf area, relative water content, leaf water potential, and proline content under stressful conditions. It also revealed lower CAT and APX activities in comparison with noninoculated plants which show that they experienced less oxidative stress. Fungal association increase seedling biomass, the uptake of phosphorus, and zinc that are functional elements for the growth under drought stress. It also improved the total antioxidant activity in leaves, as well as increasing the production of proline by upregulated activity of the Pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthase (P5CS) (Saddique et al. 2018). It has been also shown that endophytic fungus as Trichoderma harzianum Th-56 improved drought stress in rice by upregulated aquaporin and dehydrin, modulated proline metabolism, superoxide dismutase level, and lipid peroxidation product (Pandey et al., 2016b). On the other hand, Zhang et al. (2018) revealed that endophytic fungus Piriformospora indica improved the oxidative potential of maize roots by rebalancing the carbonsulfur surplus and by activating genes for hormone mediated signaling pathways including those which respond to abscisic acid, auxin, salicylic acid, and cytokinins.

Salinity stress

Salinity stress is an increasing environmental problem that undermines plant growth by affecting vegetative development and stimulating the generation of reactive oxygen species (Begum et al., 2019). Several studies have reported the efficiency of plant-fungal association in the increased salinity stress tolerance of plants, the plant growth and yield enhancement (Waller et al., 2005; Giri et al., 2007; Hajiboland et al., 2010; Sheng et al. 2011; Hashem et al., 2015; Li et al., 2017; Hashem et al., 2018; Santander et al., 2019; Gul Jan et al., 2019; Farias et al., 2020). Moreover, under salinity stress conditions endophytic fungi enhanced the length and fresh weight of plants and mitigated the adverse effects of this constraint by limiting lipid peroxidation and accumulating proteins, as well as decreasing levels of abscisic acid and increasing salicylic acid levels in stressed plants (Radhakrishnan et al., 2013). Endophytic fungi able to alleviates salinity stress via accumulation of osmoprotectant, stimulating the expression of defense-related genes, and antioxidant enzymes (Li et al., 2017). On the other hand, under salt stress, endophytic fungi interaction with plants improved nutrition with N and P favoring the growth and rate of liquid photosynthesis in the plants (Farias et al. 2020). As reported, the Yarrowia lipolytica inoculation ameliorated also the negative impact of salt stress in maize. It significantly promoted plant growth through controlled metabolism and hormonal secretions (ABA and IAA) under salinity stress (Gul Jan et al., 2019).

Metals stress

The capacity of endophytic fungi to increase the resistance of host plants to metals stress is also reported in several studies (Wang et al., 2016; Gong et al., 2017; Lalancette et al., 2019; Hou et al., 2020). Indeed, fungal endophytes populations promote plant growth and increased their tolerance to Cu, Ni, Zn, and As induced stress (Lalancette et al., 2019), improved root growth and tolerance to cadmium stress by altering the soil Cd concentration and facilitating plant growth and survival under Cd stress (Hou et al., 2020). As reported, endophytic fungus Exophiala pisciphila has been associated with maize (Zea mays) under also increased soil cadmium stress (0, 10, 50, 100 mg kg^1) and the result showed a marked tolerance to Cd, with a significant reduction in Cd phytotoxicity and a significant increase in maize growth by stimulating antioxidant systems, altering metal chemical forms into inactive cadmium, and repartitioning subcellular cadmium into the cell wall (Wang et al., 2016). Moreover, Gong et al. (2017) reported that endophytic fungus Purpureocillium sp. A5 protect mangrove plant Kandelia candel under copper stress by decreasing uptake of Cu in K. candel and changes the pH characterization of soil. It also increased the concentration of Cu complexes in soil and enhanced the concentration of carbonate-bound Cu, MnFe complexes Cu, and organic-bound Cu in soil.

Temperature (high and low) stress

Heat-stress is one of the major destructive stresses among abiotic ones that can lead to detrimental effects on plant growth and development (Begum et al., 2019). Indeed, fungus-inoculated plants revealed better growth under heat stress compared with the non-fungus inoculated ones (Zhu et al., 2010; Abdel Latef and Chaoxing, 2011; Liu et al., 2014; Waqas et al., 2015; Cabral et al., 2016; Ismail et al., 2018; Ismail et al., 2019). Moreover, mutualistic fungal endophytes can protect rice plants from heat-stress by decreasing the endogenous level of stress-signaling compounds such as abscisic and jasmonic acids, and by increasing total protein content (Wagas et al., 2015). The endophytic fungus as Aspergillus japonicas improved heat stress by negotiating the activity of abscisic acid, catalase, and ascorbic acid oxidase as well as nutritional quality such as phenolics, flavonoids, soluble sugars, proteins, and lipids in comparison to endophyte-free plants (Ismail et al. 2018). Moreover, in high temperature induced stress, endophytic fungi promote growth by increasing the levels of abscisic acid (ABA), proline, and decreasing the levels of phenols, flavonoids, catalase, and ascorbic acid oxidase. It also decreased chlorophyll, root-shoot length, and dry weight (Ismail et al., 2019).

Increase in resistance to biotic stresses

Fungi induce several beneficial effects on their host plants including the resistance to biotic stresses from pathogens and herbivores (Khare et al., 2018; Yan et al., 2019). Indeed, endophytic fungi inhibited fungal pathogens as Panax notoginseng Yao et al. (2017), Moniliophthora roreri, Phytophthora palmivora, Moniliophthora perniciosa (MejÚa et al., 2008), Heterobasidion parviporum, Phytophtora pini, and Botrytis cinerea (Terhonen et al. 2016). The authors reported that this fungus increased resistance to pathogen damage in Theobroma cacao leaves by the upregulation of host defensive genes (Tc00g04254). On the other hand, Siddaiah et al. (2017) reported that endophytic fungus Trichoderma hamatum UoM 13 produce resistance by significant overproduction of endogenous SA and the overexpression of PR proteins, HRGPs, and defense enzymes in plants, which showed mounted systemic immunity against downy mildew pathogen. Growth of host plants

Fungi inoculation could promote the growth of their host plants by several mechanisms such as increasing hormones and absorption of useful nutrients for plants (Guo, and Wang, 2001; Sherameti et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2011; Waqas et al., 2015; Jia et al., 2016; Metwally and Al-Amri, 2020). The inoculation with endophytic fungi as Penicillium citrinum and Aspergillus terreus promoted plant biomass and other growth characteristics such as stem diameter, shoot fresh/dry weight, shoot length, and photosynthetic function by increasing the levels of endogenous Jasmonic acid and Salicylic acid of the host plant (Waqas et al., 2015). Also, the production of indole acetic acid reported to increases seed germination and enhances yield of the host plant (Guo, and Wang, 2001), positively influence the plant growth by increasing size of roots and amount of chlorophyll (Chen et al., 2011). At the molecular level, endophytic fungus Piriformospora indica promotes the growth of Arabidopsis and tobacco roots by stimulating gene expression for nitrate reductase and the starch degrading enzyme (glucan-water dikinase) (Sherameti et al., 2005). The inoculation of onion (Allium cepa) plants by AM fungi in combination with biocontrol fungus (Trichoderma viride) significantly increased onion growth parameters (fresh and dry weights, root and shoot lengths and leaf area) and also improved chlorophyll, carotenoids, and total pigments in onion leaves (Metwally and Al-Amri, 2020).

Production of plant secondary metabolites

Several studies reported that a special relationship found with endophytes and their host plants that influencing the production of bioactive metabolites in plants (Wang et al., 2006; Gao et al., 2011; Pandey et al., 2016; Yuan et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2020; Teimoori-Boghsani et al., 2020). Association of endophyte fungi and medicinal herb produced sesquiterpenoids accumulation by increasing the photosynthesis, expanding the glycolysis and tricarboxylic acid cycle, and enhancing the metabolic sesquiterpenoids biosynthesis pathway (Yuan et al., 2019). Moreover, endophytic fungi inoculation improve the accumulation of total flavonoid, rutin, isorhamnetin, and cyanidin-3-glucoside chloride contents and promoted their growth and development (Zhang et al., 2020). In addition, it has been showed that Fungi such as Coetotrichum gloesporioides fungi induce the biosynthesis of terpenoid (such as isoeuphpekinensin and euphol), defense-related enzymes, and biomass (Gao et al., 2011) (Wang et al., 2006).

Pandey et al. (2016) reported that colonization of opium poppy Papaver somniferum L. by endophytes improved plant productivity and benzylisoquinoline alkaloid (BIA) biosynthesis. Moreover, endophytic fungi Penicillium canescens, Penicillium murcianum, Paraphoma radicina, and Coniolariella hispanica isolated from Salvia

abrotanoides plants are producers of cryptotanshinone which is a main bioactive compound of the host plant (Teimoori-Boghsani et al., 2020).

6. Effects induced by other living organisms or microorganisms on plant-microbes interactions in the rhizosphere

6.1. Effect of saprophytic fungi on plants

Saprophytic fungi are a group of macro-fungi that use the nutrition from the debris of plant or animals. The degradation of these bodies requires the presence of specific enzymes, in Saprophytic fungi, which digest the cellulose, lignin, and chitin in these plants or animals into simple soluble molecules (Saldajeno et al., 2008). These compounds can be absorbed by plants and saprophytic fungi as nutrients. Despite, there are no several studies which investigated the effects of saprophytic fungi on plants, some studies suggested that the presence of saprophytic fungi is beneficial for plants growth; they can therefore induce the accumulation of essential nutrients (carbon and nitrogen) in plants. Indeed, some saprophytic fungi like plant growth promoting fungi (PGPF) are non-pathogenic soil inhabitants and able to promote growth of several plants such as wheat (Shivanna et al., 1996), and cucumber (Shiyanna et al., 2005). Moreover, it has been shown that several phyto-pathologies are controlled by these fungi. These plant diseases include Rhizoctonia damping off, Fusarium crown and root rot in tomatoes Pythium, take-all disease of wheat, and brown patch diseases (hyakumachi, 2004; Horinouchi et al., 2007). On the other hand, the indirect effect of Saprophytic fungi on plants can be mediated indirectly by their effects on Arbuscular Mycorrhizae. Indeed, in vitro and in vivo investigations revealed that the interaction between Arbuscular Mycorrhizae and saprophytic fungi can stimulate the germination and the growth of Arbuscular Mycorrhizae (Saldajeno et al., 2008).

6.2. Interactions of rhizosphere fauna with beneficial microorganisms

Nematodes, earthworms, and protozoa are very abundant, living in interaction with plants and other rhizosphere microorganisms. These relationships can be symbiotic or non-symbiotic (Wardle et al., 2004).

However, numerous studies reported recently that some parasites, by their interactions with plants in the rhizosphere, are beneficial for plants. In fact, they can induce the growth and development of host plants, reinforce plant defense, and stimulate secondary metabolites synthesis. Such as protozoa, nematodes, earthworms

In this context, protozoa play an important role at the soil-root interface by accelerating the mineralization of microbially immobilized nutrients (Elliott et al., 1979). They also strongly stimulate the mineralization and turnover of bacterial N (Kuikman and Van Veen, 1989) and enhanced N absorption (Koller et al., 2013). In addition, the presence of protozoa significantly enhanced soil nitrogen mineralization (Ekelund et al., 2009), plant nitrogen uptake, and plant growth, which is facilitated by a mucilageborder cells-complex (Somasundaram et al., 2008). Moreover, in interaction with AMF, protozoa increased plant N and P uptake, increased the root (Bonkowski et al., 2001), and leaves surface (Koller et al., 2013). Furthermore, amoebas (protozoa) are involved in a mechanism known as microbial loop in soil, they mobilize the N pool locked up in bacterial biomass, and results in a marked increase in plant growth (Bonkowski, 2004), and also can rapidly change bacterial community composition in the rhizosphere (Kreuzer et al., 2006; Rosenberg et al., 2009).

Thus, a decrease in plant stress levels due to changes induced by protist-induced shifts in microbial communities, is a prominent effect of microbial predatorprey interactions in the rhizosphere (Kuppardt et al., 2018). Furthermore, phagotrophic protists have modified bacterial functioning by improving the genes of secondary metabolites suppressing pathogens (Xiong et al., 2020). A very recent study showed that heterotrophic protists increase plant growth and nitrogen uptake, with a great impact on plant biomass (Asiloglu et al., 2020).

Otherwise, Nematode-plant relationships may be modified by plant variety and age, nematode species, and environment. Certain nematodes like *Meloidogyne* spp. can have positive effects on the legume-rhizobium association by increasing the number of nodules and the amount of nitrogen fixed (Baldwin et al., 1979). Similarly, nematodes (*Heterodera trifolii*) can increase plants growth (Wardle et al., 1995). Furthermore, plant-nematode interaction, in the rhizosphere, is mostly mediated by chemicals present in root exudates (Bais et al., 2004). In response to plant-released volatiles that attract nematodes; a soil nematode (*Caenorhab ditiselegans*) mediated the interaction between the roots of the legume *Medicago truncatula* and the rhizobia, leading to nodulation (Horiuchi et al., 2005).

Nematodes may stimulate plant growth by secreting small molecules. In this context, numerous studies showed that several genera of phytoparasitic nematodes have the capacity to produce ascr#18, the main ascaroside (Manosalva et al., 2015), functioning as a small-molecule signature that elicits plant immune responses (Manosalva et al., 2015), and which is responsible for the plant's defense response (Vercauteren et al., 2001). According to Manosalva et al., (2015), these small molecules increased the resistance of Arabidopsis, tomato, potato, and barley against viral, bacterial, oomycete, fungal, and nematode infections.

Recently, a study showed that both monocot and dicot plants converted ascr#18 to shorter side-chained ascarosides acting as chemical signals when excreted in the rhizosphere to regulate the early stages of plant-nematode interactions (Manohar et al., 2020). Moreover, bacterial-feeding nematodes (*Cephalobus* sp. and *Mesorhabditis* sp.) stimulated the activity of IAA-producing bacteria that promoted *Arabidopsis thaliana* growth, nitrogen mineralization in the soil, plant growth (root architecture, shoot dry weight, and plant nitrogen), and the expression of two IAAresponsive genes (IAA3 and IAA13) (Jiang et al., 2020).

Several studies have reported the effectiveness of the plantearthworm interaction in improving root biomass, carbon content, and plant growth and yield (Scheu and Parkinson, 1994; Hudson and Floate, 2009). Indeed, Kooch and Jalilvand, (2008) found that the feeding activities of earthworms significantly enhance the mineralization of macronutrients, especially nitrogen, from birch litter and humus in coniferous forest soil. Similarly, the earthworm Dendrobaena octaedra (Savigny) enhanced the shoot biomass of the grass Agropyron trachycaulum (Link) Malte (Poaceae) and increased the shoot-to-root ratio during early plant growth (Scheu and Parkinson, 1994). Besides, the presence of earthworms (Aporrectodea caliginosa) increased the root biomass and the carbon content of Cardamine hirsuta shoots (Wurst and Jones, 2003). Earthworms have also facilitated nitrogen mineralization and increased root biomass and carbon content, thereby stimulating plant growth and development (Hudson and Floate, 2009).

7. Viral-plant interactions: Virus as an elicitor/inductor of host plant metabolites

Indeed, the presence of virus in plants can lead to remarkable interactions *via* signaling pathways inducing thus several positive phenotypes in plants. Among these phenotypes, it has been shown that virus mediate signaling pathways involved in the immune system of these plants (Pellati et al., 2011). Moreover, some plant viruses induce a hypersensitive response using coat, movement, and replicase proteins (Garcúa and PallÃs, 2015).

Under drought stress, Xu et al., (2008) revealed that four different RNA viruses, Brome mosaic virus (BMV), Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV), Tobacco mosaic virus, and Tobacco rattle virus improved the tolerance to abiotic stress of various plant species inoculated by increasing osmoprotectant as well as antioxidant levels in these virus-infected plants. This result was confirmed by (Westwood et al., 2013), who studied Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV) associated with Arabidopsis thaliana plants, and showed the virus is able to increase plant stress tolerance by aiding susceptible hosts to survive periods of environmental stress. In another study, the infection of Arabidopsis (Arabidopsis thaliana) plants with Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV) rendered seeds with improved tolerance to deterioration when compared to the non-inoculated plants in the biotic stress (Bueso et al., 2017). Moreover, Khankhum and Valverde, (2018) reported that PvEV-infected Common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) had faster seed germination, longer radicle, lower chlorophyll content, higher carotene content, longer pods, and higher weight of 100 seeds. More recently, (Fukuhara et al., 2020) revealed that the latent infection of tomato plants (Solanum lycopersicum) with Southern tomato virus (STV) increased the production of fruit and the germination rate of seeds more than STV-free plants.

The viruses play also a beneficial role in plantherbivore interactions and protected their hosts by decreasing herbivore infestation rates. Indeed, van Molken et al., (2012) demonstrated that white clover mosaic virus infection can reduce the attractiveness of stoloniferous herb Trifolium repens (white clover) for fungus gnat females. This effect may be due to -caryophyllene compound which was exclusively detected in the headspace of virusinfected plants. (Thaler et al., 2010) studied the effects of Tobacco mosaic virus infection in Spodoptera exigua caterpillars and showed that virus increased growth of Spodoptera when feeding on infected tomato plants. Moreover, Shapiro et al., (2013) showed that the infection of *Cucumis sativa* by zucchini vellow mosaic virus (ZYMV) decreased the attraction of the cucumber beetle, which can transmit the bacterial wilt pathogen Erwinia tracheiphila. Recently, Safari et al., (2019) showed also a positive relationship between Pepper cryptic virus 1 and Jalapebo pepper plants by protecting the plants from the vector of acute viruses and reducing aphid herbivory.

8. Rhizospheric microorganisms: Perspectives for a biological agriculture

Agriculture underwent fundamental changes all over the world. In the past, the main objective was to increase the yield potential of crops and their productivity, while today, the dynamism of productivity is increasingly combined with the demand for sustainability. This would meet human needs while maintaining the quality of the environment and conserving natural resources for the future.

Improving agricultural sustainability requires the optimal use and management of soil fertility and its physicochemical properties. This implies management practices that improve the biological activity of soils and their biodiversity (Egamberdieva et al., 2015). The study of biodiversity patterns is a crucial step to achieve one of the main objectives of ecology particularly the understanding of the distribution of organisms (Lubchenco et al., 1991). Environmentalists are increasingly interested in the relationship between productivity and diversity (Claire Horner-Devine et al., 2003).

The use of microorganisms and the exploitation of beneficial plant-microorganisms interactions offer promising and environmental friendly strategies for conventional and organic farming worldwide (Berg, 2009). Although microbiologists have studied the impact of microbial diversity on the stability of ecosystem function since the 1960s (Hairston et al., 1968). There is now an increased interest in the effect of the diversity of microbial communities on ecological function and resilience to disturbances in soil ecosystems. The use of beneficial microorganisms has proven to be an environmentally sound option for increasing crop yields. Microorganisms are fundamental for maintaining essential soil functions. They participate in key processes such as soil structure, decomposition of organic matter, elimination of toxins, suppression of diseases, and play a key role in carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, and sulfur cycles (Garbeva et al., 2004). Microorganisms maintain plant growth and therefore have primary effects on soil and crop quality (Garbeya et al., 2004). A wide range of advantages is possible depending on their predominance and their activity at any time, intending to obtain a maximum high-quality agronomic yield, without the use of artificial fertilizers, herbicides, insecticides, and pesticides (Singh et al., 2011).

9. Conclusion and future perspectives

The relationship between microorganisms and plants in the rhizosphere has been well understood recently. Differ

ent microorganisms such as bacteria, fungi and archaea exert direct and/or indirect benefic effects on host plants. These beneficial effects include the improvement of plant growth and development, the enhancement against abiotic stresses, and the increase of resistance to biotic stresses. This positive association between these microorganisms and plants plays an important role in balancing the rhizosphere. However, the molecular mechanisms involved in these beneficial interactions are not well understood. Therefore, further investigations are required to establish molecular pathways by which microorganisms induce phenotypic changes in host plants and the use of these associations for improving the culture of plants as well as their adaptations to different conditions. In addition the study of quorum sensing mediators as molecular communication between plants and microbes could be a key element to understand these interactions and therefore to use them as biotechnological tools.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

References

- Abdel Latef, A.A.H., Chaoxing, H., 2011. Arbuscular mycorrhizal influence on growth, photosynthetic pigments, osmotic adjustment and oxidative stress in tomato plants subjected to low temperature stress. Acta Physiol. Plant 33, 1217–1225. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-010-0650-3.
- Abdelhameed, R.E., Metwally, R.A., 2019. Alleviation of cadmium stress by arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Int. J. Phytorem. 21, 663–671. https://doi. org/10.1080/15226514.2018.1556584.
- Abdel-Salam, E., Alatar, A., El-Sheikh, M.A., 2018. Inoculation with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi alleviates harmful effects of drought stress on damask rose. Saudi J. Biol. Sci. 25, 1772–1780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2017.10.015.
- Al-Arjani, A.-B.F., Hashem, A., Abd_Allah, E.F., 2020. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi modulates dynamics tolerance expression to mitigate drought stress in Ephedra foliata Boiss. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences 27, 380394.
- Aly, AmalH, Debbab, A., Kjer, J., Proksch, P., 2010. Fungal endophytes from higher plants: a prolific source of phytochemicals and other bioactive natural products. Fungal Diversity 41, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13225-010-0034-4.
- Asiloglu, R., Shiroishi, K., Suzuki, K., Turgay, O.C., Murase, J., Harada, N., 2020. Protist-enhanced survival of a plant growth promoting rhizobacteria,

Azospirillum sp. B510, and the growth of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) plants. Appl. Soil Ecol. 154, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2020.103599 103599.

- Bais, H.P., Park, S.-W., Weir, T.L., Callaway, R.M., Vivanco, J.M., 2004. How plants communicate using the underground information superhighway. Trends Plant Sci. 9, 26–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2003.11.008.
- Bais, H.P., Weir, T.L., Perry, L.G., Gilroy, S., Vivanco, J.M., 2006. The role of root exudates in rhizosphere interactions with plants and other organisms. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 57, 233–266. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. arplant.57.032905.105159.
- Baldwin, J.G., Barker, K.R., Nelson, L.A., 1979. Effects of meloidogyne incognita on nitrogen fixation in soybean. J. Nematol. 11, 156–161.
- Bano, N., Rizvi, I.F., Sharma, N., Siddiqui, M.H., Kalim, M., Khan, A., Akhtar, S., 2016. Production of Bioactive Secondary Metabolites from Endophytic fungi.
- Bearden, B.N., Petersen, L., 2000. Influence of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on soil structure and aggregate stability of a vertisol. Plant Soil 218, 173–183. https:// doi.org/10.1023/A:1014923911324.
- Begum, N., Cheng, Q., Muhammad Abass, A., Sajjad, R., Muhammad Ishfaq, K., Muhammad, A., Nadeem, A., Lixin, Z., 2019. Role of *Arbuscular Mycorrhizal* fungi in plant growth regulation: implications in abiotic stress tolerance. Front. Plant Sci. 10, 15.
- Belimov, A.A., Dodd, I.C., Hontzeas, N., Theobald, J.C., Safronova, V.I., Davies, W.J., 2009. Rhizosphere bacteria containing 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate deaminase increase yield of plants grown in drying soil via both local and systemic hormone signalling. New Phytol. 181, 413–423. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02657.x.
- Belimov, A.A., Kojemiakov, A.P., Chuvarliyeva, C.V., 1995. Interaction between barley and mixed cultures of nitrogen fixing and phosphate-solubilizing bacteria. Plant Soil 173, 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00155515.
- Berendsen, R.L., Pieterse, C.M.J., Bakker, P.A.H.M., 2012. The rhizosphere microbiome and plant health. Trends Plant Sci. 17, 478–486. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tplants.2012.04.001.
- Berg, G., 2009. Plant-microbe interactions promoting plant growth and health: perspectives for controlled use of microorganisms in agriculture. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 84, 11–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-009-2092-7.
- Bever, J.D., Platt, T.G., Morton, E.R., 2012. Microbial population and community dynamics on plant roots and their feedbacks on plant communities. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 66, 265–283. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-micro-092611-150107.
- Bhattacharyya, P.N., Jha, D.K., 2012. Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): emergence in agriculture. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 28, 1327–1350. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-011-0979-9.
- Bintrim, S.B., Donohue, T.J., Handelsman, J., Roberts, G.P., Goodman, R.M., 1997. Molecular phylogeny of Archaea from soil. PNAS 94, 277–282. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.94.1.277.
- Blom, D., Fabbri, C., Connor, E.C., Schiestl, F.P., Klauser, D.R., Boller, T., Eberl, L., Weisskopf, L., 2011. Production of plant growth modulating volatiles is widespread among rhizosphere bacteria and strongly depends on culture conditions. Environ. Microbiol. 13, 3047–3058. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02582.x.
- Bolwerk, A., Lagopodi, A.L., Wijfjes, A.H.M., Lamers, G.E.M., Chin-A-Woeng, T.F.C., Lugtenberg, B.J.J., Bloemberg, G.V., 2003. Interactions in the tomato rhizosphere of two *Pseudomonas Biocontrol* strains with the phytopathogenic fungus *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. radicis-lycopersici. MPMI 16, 983–993. https://doi. org/10.1094/MPMI.2003.16.11.983.
- Bonkowski, M., 2004. Protozoa and plant growth: the microbial loop in soil revisited. New Phytol. 162, 617–631. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01066.x.
- Bonkowski, M., Clarholm, M., 2012. Stimulation of plant growth through interactions of bacteria and protozoa: testing the auxiliary microbial loop hypothesis. Acta Protozoologica 51.
- Bonkowski, M., Jentschke, G., Scheu, S., 2001. Contrasting effects of microbial partners in the rhizosphere: interactions between *Norway Spruce* seedlings (*Picea abies Karst.*), mycorrhiza (*Paxillus involutus* (Batsch) Fr.) and *naked amoebae* (protozoa). Appl. Soil Ecol. 18, 193–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0929-1393(01)00165-2.
- Borneman, J., Triplett, E.W., 1997. Molecular microbial diversity in soils from *eastern Amazonia*: evidence for unusual microorganisms and microbial population shifts associated with deforestation. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 63, 2647–2653.
- Bueso, E., Serrano, R., PallÅs, V., SÅnchez-Navarro, J.A., 2017. Seed tolerance to deterioration in arabidopsis is affected by virus infection. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 116, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2017.04.020.
- Cabral, C., Ravnskov, S., Tringovska, I., Wollenweber, B., 2016. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi modify nutrient allocation and composition in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) subjected to heat-stress. Plant Soil 408, 385–399. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-016-2942-x.
- Canarini, A., Kaiser, C., Merchant, A., Richter, A., Wanek, W., 2019. Root exudation of primary metabolites: mechanisms and their roles in plant responses to environmental stimuli. Front Plant Sci 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2019.00157.
- Chamkhi, I., Abbas, Y., Tarmoun, K., Aurag, J., Sbabou, L., 2019. Morphological and molecular characterization of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities inhabiting the roots and the soil of saffron (Crocus sativus L.) under different agricultural management practices. Arch. Agron. Soil Sci. 65, 1035–1048. https://doi.org/10.1080/03650340.2018.1548012.
- Chamkhi, I., Benali, T., Aanniz, T., El Menyiy, N., Guaouguaou, F.-E., El Omari, N., El-Shazly, M., Zengin, G., Bouyahya, A., 2021. Plant-microbial interaction: The

mechanism and the application of microbial elicitor induced secondary metabolites biosynthesis in medicinal plants. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 167, 269–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2021.08.001.

- Chamkhi, I., Sbabou, L., Aurag, J., 2018. Endophytic Fungi Isolated from Crocus sativus L. (Saffron) as a Source of Bioactive Secondary Metabolites. 10.5530/ PJ.2018.6.195.
- Chen, B., Wang, M., Hu, Y., Lin, Z., Yu, R., Huang, L., 2011. Preliminary study on promoting effects of endophytic fungi to growth of *Rehmannia glutinosa*. Zhongguo Zhong Yao Za Zhi 36, 1137–1140.
- Chen, M., Arato, M., Borghi, L., Nouri, E., Reinhardt, D., 2018. Beneficial services of *Arbuscular Mycorrhizal* Fungi from ecology to application. Front Plant Sci 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01270.
- Chen, X.-P., Zhu, Y.-G., Xia, Y., Shen, J.-P., He, J.-Z., 2008. Ammonia-oxidizing archaea: important players in paddy rhizosphere soil? Environ. Microbiol. 10, 1978–1987. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2008.01613.x.

Claire Horner-Devine, M., Leibold, M.A., Smith, V.H., Bohannan, B.J., 2003. Bacterial diversity patterns along a gradient of primary productivity. Ecol. Lett. 6, 613– 622.

- Datta, R., Meena, R.S., Pathan, S.I., Ceccherini, M.T. (Eds.), 2020. Carbon and Nitrogen Cycling in Soil. Springer Singapore, Singapore. 10.1007/978-981-13-7264-3.
- Dobbelaere, S., Croonenborghs, A., Thys, A., Ptacek, D., Vanderleyden, J., Dutto, P., Labandera-Gonzalez, C., Caballero-Mellado, J., Aguirre, J.F., Kapulnik, Y., Brener, S., Burdman, S., Kadouri, D., Sarig, S., Okon, Y., 2001. Responses of agronomically important crops to inoculation with Azospirillum. Functional Plant Biol. 28, 871 879. 10.1071/pp01074.
- Dumbrell, A.J., Nelson, M., Helgason, T., Dytham, C., Fitter, A.H., 2010. Relative roles of niche and neutral processes in structuring a soil microbial community. ISME J. 4, 337–345. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2009.122.
- Dutta, S., Mishra, A.K., Dileep Kumar, B.S., 2008. Induction of systemic resistance against *fusarial wilt* in pigeon pea through interaction of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria and rhizobia. Soil Biol. Biochem. 40, 452–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.09.009.
- Egamberdieva, D., Shrivastava, S., Varma, A., 2015. Plant-Growth-Promoting Rhizobacteria (PGPR) and Medicinal Plants. Springer.
- Ekelund, F., Saj, S., Vestergfrd, M., Bertaux, J., Mikola, J., 2009. The soil microbial loop is not always needed to explain protozoan stimulation of plants. Soil Biol. Biochem. 41, 2336–2342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.08.019.
- Elliott, E.T., Coleman, D.C., Cole, C.V., 1979. THE INFLUENCE OF AMOEBAE ON THE UPTAKE OF NITROGEN BY PLANTS IN GNOTOBIOTIC SOIL. In: Harley, J.L., Russell, R.S. (Eds.), The Soil-Root Interface. Academic Press, London, pp. 221– 229. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-325550-1.50024-0.
- Erkel, C., Kube, M., Reinhardt, R., Liesack, W., 2006. Genome of Rice Cluster I Archaea—the Key Methane Producers in the Rice Rhizosphere. Science 313, 370372. 10.1126/science.1127062.
- Farias, G.C., Nunes, K.G., Soares, M.A., de Siqueira, K.A., Lima, W.C., Neves, A.L.R., de Lacerda, C.F., Filho, E.G., 2020. Dark septate endophytic fungi mitigate the effects of salt stress on cowpea plants. Braz. J. Microbiol. 51, 243–253. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s42770-019-00173-4.
- Finlay, R.D., 2008. Ecological aspects of mycorrhizal symbiosis: with special emphasis on the functional diversity of interactions involving the extraradical mycelium. J. Exp. Bot. 59, 1115–1126. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ern059.
- Francis, C.A., Beman, J.M., Kuypers, M.M.M., 2007. New processes and players in the nitrogen cycle: the microbial ecology of anaerobic and archaeal ammonia oxidation. ISME J. 1, 19–27. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2007.8.
- Fukuhara, T., Tabara, M., Koiwa, H., Takahashi, H., 2020. Effect of asymptomatic infection with southern tomato virus on tomato plants. Arch. Virol. 165, 11–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-019-04436-1.
- Gao, F., Yong#, Y., Dai, C., 2011. Effects of endophytic fungal elicitor on two kinds of terpenoids production and physiological indexes in Euphorbia pekinensis suspension cells. JMPR 5, 44184425.
- Garbeva, P., van Veen, J.A., van Elsas, J.D., 2004. Microbial diversity in soil: selection microbial populations by plant and soil type and implications for disease suppressiveness. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 42, 243–270. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.phyto.42.012604.135455.
- GarcÚa, J.A., PallÃs, V., 2015. Viral factors involved in plant pathogenesis. Current Opinion in Virology, Viral pathogenesis Preventive and therapeutic vaccines 11, 2130. 10.1016/j.coviro.2015.01.001.
- Giri, B., Kapoor, R., Mukerji, K.G., 2007. Improved tolerance of acacia nilotica to salt stress by Arbuscular Mycorrhiza, Glomus fasciculatum may be partly related to elevated K/Na ratios in root and shoot tissues. Microb. Ecol. 54, 753–760. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-007-9239-9.
- Gong, B., Liu, G., Liao, R., Song, J., Zhang, H., 2017. Endophytic fungus Purpureocillium sp. A5 protect mangrove plant Kandelia candel under copper stress. Brazil. J. Microbiol. 48, 530–536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjm.2016.10.027.
- Gontia-Mishra, I., Sapre, S., Sharma, A., Tiwari, S., 2016. Amelioration of drought tolerance in wheat by the interaction of plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. Plant Biol. 18, 992–1000. https://doi.org/10.1111/plb.12505.
- Goswami, D., Thakker, J.N., Dhandhukia, P.C., 2016. Portraying mechanics of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): a review. Cogent Food Agric. 2, 1127500. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311932.2015.1127500.
- Govindarajulu, M., Pfeffer, P.E., Jin, H., Abubaker, J., Douds, D.D., Allen, J.W., B≈cking, H., Lammers, P.J., Shachar-Hill, Y., 2005. Nitrogen transfer in the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Nature 435, 819–823. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature03610.
- Gryndler, M., Larsen, J., HrelovÃ, H., ezÃovÃ, V., GryndlerovÃ, H., KubÃt, J., 2005. Organic and mineral fertilization, respectively, increase and decrease the

development of external mycelium of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in a long-term field experiment. Mycorrhiza 16, 159–166. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-005-0027-4.

- Gul Jan, F., Hamayun, M., Hussain, A., Jan, G., Iqbal, A., Khan, A., Lee, I.-J., 2019. An endophytic isolate of the fungus *Yarrowia lipolytica* produces metabolites that ameliorate the negative impact of salt stress on the physiology of maize. BMC Microbiol. 19, 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-018-1374-6.
- Guo, S.X., Wang, Q.Y., 2001. Character and action of good strain on stimulating seed germination of *Gastrodia elata*. Mycosystema 3, 408–412.
- Hairston, N.G., Allan, J.D., Colwell, R.K., Futuyma, D.J., Howell, J., Lubin, M.D., Mathias, J., Vandermeer, J.H., 1968. The relationship between species diversity and stability: an experimental approach with protozoa and bacteria. Ecology 49, 1091–1101. https://doi.org/10.2307/1934492.
- Hajiboland, R., Aliasgharzadeh, N., Laiegh, S.F., Poschenrieder, C., 2010. Colonization with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi improves salinity tolerance of tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.) plants. Plant Soil 331, 313–327. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11104-009-0255-z.
- Hashem, A., Abd_Allah, E.F., Alqarawi, A.A., Aldubise, A., Egamberdieva, D., 2015. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi enhances salinity tolerance of Panicum turgidum Forssk by altering photosynthetic and antioxidant pathways. Journal of Plant Interactions 10, 230242. 10.1080/17429145.2015.1052025.
- Hashem, A., Alqarawi, A.A., Radhakrishnan, R., Al-Arjani, A.-B.F., Aldehaish, H.A., Egamberdieva, D., Abd_Allah, E.F., 2018. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi regulate the oxidative system, hormones and ionic equilibrium to trigger salt stress tolerance in Cucumis sativus L. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences 25, 1102 1114. 10.1016/j.sjbs.2018.03.009.
- Hayat, R., Ali, S., Amara, U., Khalid, R., Ahmed, I., 2010. Soil beneficial bacteria and their role in plant growth promotion: a review. Ann. Microbiol. 60, 579–598.
- Holguin, G., Guzman, M.A., Bashan, Y., 1992. Two new nitrogen-fixing bacteria from the rhizosphere of mangrove trees: Their isolation, identification and *in vitro* interaction with rhizosphere Staphylococcus sp. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 101, 207–216.
- Horinouchi, H., Muslim, A., Suzuki, T., Hyakumachi, M., 2007. Fusarium equiseti GF191 as an effective biocontrol agent against *Fusarium crown* and root rot of tomato in rock wool systems. Crop Prot. 26, 1514–1523. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cropro.2006.12.018.
- Horiuchi, J., Prithiviraj, B., Bais, H.P., Kimball, B.A., Vivanco, J.M., 2005. Soil nematodes mediate positive interactions between legume plants and rhizobium bacteria. Planta 222, 848–857. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-005-0025-v.
- Hosseini, F., Mosaddeghi, M.R., Dexter, A.R., Sepehri, M., 2018. Maize water status and physiological traits as affected by root endophytic fungus Piriformospora indica under combined drought and mechanical stresses. Planta 247, 1229– 1245. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-018-2861-6.
- Hou, L., Yu, J., Zhao, L., He, X., 2020. Dark septate endophytes improve the growth and the tolerance of *Medicago sativa* and *Ammopiptanthus mongolicus* under cadmium stress. Front. Microbiol. 10, 3061. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmicb.2019.03061.
- Hudson, A.J., Floate, K.D., 2009. Further evidence for the absence of bacteria in horsehair worms (Nematomorpha: Gordiidae). J. Parasitol. 95, 1545–1547.
- Hyakumachi, M., 2004. Biological control of plant diseases by plant growth promoting fungi. Proceedings of the International Seminar on Biological Control of Soil Borne Plant Diseases, 2004 88123.
- Ismail, Hamayun, M., Hussain, A., Afzal Khan, S., Iqbal, A., Lee, I.-J., 2019. Aspergillus flavus Promoted the Growth of Soybean and Sunflower Seedlings at Elevated Temperature. BioMed Research International 2019, 113. 10.1155/2019/ 1295457.
- Ismail, Hamayun, M., Hussain, A., Iqbal, A., Khan, S.A., Lee, I.-J., 2018. Endophytic Fungus Aspergillus japonicus Mediates Host Plant Growth under Normal and Heat Stress Conditions. BioMed Research International 2018, 111. 10.1155/ 2018/7696831.
- Jansa, J., Erb, A., Oberholzer, H.-R., milauer, P., Egli, S., 2014. Soil and geography are more important determinants of indigenous arbuscular mycorrhizal communities than management practices in Swiss agricultural soils. Mol. Ecol. 23, 2118–2135. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12706.
- Jha, C.K., Saraf, M., 2015. Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): a review. J. Agric. Res. Dev. 5, 108–119.
- Jia, M., Chen, L., Xin, H.-L., Zheng, C.-J., Rahman, K., Han, T., Qin, L.-P., 2016. A friendly relationship between endophytic fungi and medicinal plants: a systematic review. Front. Microbiol. 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00906.
- Jiang, Y., Wu, Y., Hu, N., Li, H., Jiao, J., 2020. Interactions of bacterial-feeding nematodes and indole-3-acetic acid (IAA)-producing bacteria promotes growth of Arabidopsis thaliana by regulating soil auxin status. Appl. Soil Ecol. 147,. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2019.103447 103447.
- Jones, D.L., Hinsinger, P., 2008. The rhizosphere: complex by design. Plant Soil 312, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-008-9774-2.
- Jurgens, G., Lindstr-m, K., Saano, A., 1997. Novel group within the kingdom Crenarchaeota from boreal forest soil. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 63, 803– 805.
- Kang, S.-M., Waqas, M., Khan, A.L., Lee, I.-J., 2014. Plant-Growth-Promoting Rhizobacteria: Potential Candidates for Gibberellins Production and Crop Growth Promotion, in: Use of Microbes for the Alleviation of Soil Stresses, Volume 1. Springer, New York, NY, pp. 119. 10.1007/978-1-4614-9466-9_1.
- Khankhum, S., Valverde, R.A., 2018. Physiological traits of endornavirus-infected and endornavirus-free common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) cv Black Turtle Soup. Arch. Virol. 163, 1051–1056. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-018-3702-4.

- Khare, E., Mishra, J., Arora, N.K., 2018. Multifaceted interactions between endophytes and plant: developments and prospects. Front. Microbiol. 9, 2732. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02732.
- Koller, R., Scheu, S., Bonkowski, M., Robin, C., 2013. Protozoa stimulate N uptake and growth of arbuscular mycorrhizal plants. Soil Biol. Biochem. 65, 204–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.05.020.

Kooch, Y., Jalilvand, H., 2008. Earthworms as ecosystem engineers and the most important detritivors in forest soils. Pak. J. Biol. Sci. 11, 819–825.

- Kreuzer, K., Adamczyk, J., Iijima, M., Wagner, M., Scheu, S., Bonkowski, M., 2006. Grazing of a common species of soil protozoa (*Acanthamoeba castellanii*) affects rhizosphere bacterial community composition and root architecture of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Soil Biol. Biochem. 38, 1665–1672. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.soilbio.2005.11.027.
- Kuffner, M., Puschenreiter, M., Wieshammer, G., Gorfer, M., Sessitsch, A., 2008. Rhizosphere bacteria affect growth and metal uptake of heavy metal accumulating willows. Plant Soil 304, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-007-9517-9.
- Kuikman, P.J., Van Veen, J.A., 1989. The impact of protozoa on the availability of bacterial nitrogen to plants. Biol. Fert Soils 8, 13–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00260510.
- Kuppardt, A., Fester, T., Hörtig, C., Chatzinotas, A., 2018. Rhizosphere protists change metabolite profiles in zea mays. Front. Microbiol. 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmicb.2018.00857.
- Lalancette, S., Lerat, S., Roy, S., Beaulieu, C., 2019. Fungal endophytes of Alnus incana ssp. rugosa and Alnus alnobetula ssp. crispa and their potential to tolerate heavy metals and to promote plant growth. Mycobiology 47, 415–429. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/12298093.2019.1660297.
- Lambers, H., lii, F.S.C., Pons, T.L., 2008. Mineral Nutrition, in: Plant Physiological Ecology. Springer New York, pp. 255320. 10.1007/978-0-387-78341-3_9.
- Leininger, S., Urich, T., Schloter, M., Schwark, L., Qi, J., Nicol, G.W., Prosser, J.I., Schuster, S.C., Schleper, C., 2006. Archaea predominate among ammoniaoxidizing prokaryotes in soils. Nature 442, 806–809.
- Li, Liang, Li, Lei, Wang, X., Zhu, P., Wu, H., Qi, S., 2017. Plant growth-promoting endophyte *Piriformospora indica* alleviates salinity stress in Medicago truncatula. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 119, 211–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.plaphy.2017.08.029.
- Liu, A., Chen, S., Chang, R., Liu, D., Chen, H., Ahammed, G.J., Lin, X., He, C., 2014. Arbuscular mycorrhizae improve low temperature tolerance in cucumber via alterations in H2O2 accumulation and ATPase activity. J. Plant Res. 127, 775– 785. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10265-014-0657-8.
- Lubchenco, J., Olson, A.M., Brubaker, L.B., Carpenter, S.R., Holland, M.M., Hubbell, S. P., Levin, S.A., MacMahon, J.A., Matson, P.A., Melillo, J.M., Mooney, H.A., Peterson, C.H., Pulliam, H.R., Real, L.A., Regal, P.J., Risser, P.G., 1991. The sustainable biosphere initiative: an ecological research Agenda: a report from the ecological society of America. Ecology 72, 371–412. https://doi.org/10.2307/2937183.
- Lynch, J.M., Leij, F. de, 2012. Rhizosphere, in: ELS. American Cancer Society. 10.1002/ 9780470015902.a0000403.pub2.
- Manohar, M., Tenjo-Castano, F., Chen, S., Zhang, Y.K., Kumari, A., Williamson, V.M., Wang, X., Klessig, D.F., Schroeder, F.C., 2020. Plant metabolism of nematode pheromones mediates plant-nematode interactions. Nat. Commun. 11, 208. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-14104-2.
- Manosalva, P., Manohar, M., von Reuss, S.H., Chen, S., Koch, A., Kaplan, F., Choe, A., Micikas, R.J., Wang, X., Kogel, K.-H., Sternberg, P.W., Williamson, V.M., Schroeder, F.C., Klessig, D.F., 2015. Conserved nematode signalling molecules elicit plant defenses and pathogen resistance. Nat. Commun. 6, 7795. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8795.
- Masciarelli, O., Llanes, A., Luna, V., 2014. A new PGPR co-inoculated with Bradyrhizobium japonicum enhances soybean nodulation. Microbiol. Res. 169, 609–615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2013.10.001.
- Mathur, S., Sharma, M.P., Jajoo, A., 2018. Improved photosynthetic efficacy of maize (*Zea mays*) plants with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) under high temperature stress. J. Photochem. Photobiol B, Biol. 180, 149–154. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2018.02.002.
- Maya, M.A., Matsubara, Y., 2013. Influence of arbuscular mycorrhiza on the growth and antioxidative activity in cyclamen under heat stress. Mycorrhiza 23, 381– 390. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-013-0477-z.
- Medina, J., Monreal, C.M., Orellana, L., Calabi-Floody, M., GonzÅlez, M.E., Meier, S., Borie, F., Cornejo, P., 2020. Influence of saprophytic fungi and inorganic additives on enzyme activities and chemical properties of the biodegradation process of wheat straw for the production of organo-mineral amendments. J. Environ. Manage. 255, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.109922 109922.
- Heilda, L.C., Rojas, E.I., Maynard, Z., Bael, S.V., Arnold, A.E., Hebbar, P., Samuels, G.J., Robbins, N., Herre, E.A., 2008. Endophytic fungi as biocontrol agents of *Theobroma cacao* pathogens. Biol. Control 46, 4–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biocontrol.2008.01.012.
- Metwally, R.A., Al-Amri, S.M., 2020. Individual and interactive role of *Trichoderma* viride and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on growth and pigment content of onion plants. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 70, 79–86. https://doi.org/10.1111/lam.13246.
- Miller, R.M., Jastrow, J.D., 2000. Mycorrhizal Fungi Influence Soil Structure. In: Kapulnik, Y., Douds, D.D. (Eds.), *Arbuscular Mycorrhizas*: Physiology and Function. Springer, Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 3–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-94-017-0776-3_1.
- Miransari, M., 2013. Soil microbes and the availability of soil nutrients. Acta Physiol. Plant 35, 3075–3084. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-013-1338-2.
- M≈ller, M., Deigele, C., Ziegler, H., 1989. Hormonal interactions in the rhizosphere of maize (Zea mays L.) and their effects on plant development. Zeitschrift f≈r

Pflanzenernðhrung und Bodenkunde 152, 247–254. https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.19891520217.

- Nautiyal, C.S., Srivastava, S., Chauhan, P.S., Seem, K., Mishra, A., Sopory, S.K., 2013. Plant growth-promoting bacteria *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* NBRISN13 modulates gene expression profile of leaf and rhizosphere community in rice during salt stress. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 66, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.plaphy.2013.01.020.
- Nettmann, E., Bergmann, I., Pramsch≈fer, S., Mundt, K., Plogsties, V., Herrmann, C., Klocke, M., 2010. Polyphasic analyses of methanogenic archaeal communities in agricultural biogas plants. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 2540–2548.
- Nihorimbere, V., Ongena, M., Smargiassi, M., Thonart, P., 2011. Beneficial effect of the rhizosphere microbial community for plant growth and health. Biotechnologie Agronomie, SociÕtÕ et Environnement 15, 327–337.
- Ochsenreiter, T., Selezi, D., Quaiser, A., Bonch-Osmolovskaya, L., Schleper, C., 2003. Diversity and abundance of Crenarchaeota in terrestrial habitats studied by 16S RNA surveys and real time PCR. Environ. Microbiol. 5, 787–797. https://doi.org/ 10.1046/j.1462-2920.2003.00476.x.
- Okon, Y., Labandera-Gonzales, C., Lage, M., Lage, P., 2015. Agronomic Applications of Azospirillum and Other PCPR. In: de Bruijn, F.J. (Ed.), Biological Nitrogen Fixation. John Wiley & Sons Inc, Hoboken, NJ, USA, pp. 925–936. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/9781119053095.ch90.
- Olanrewaju, O.S., Ayangbenro, A.S., Glick, B.R., Babalola, O.O., 2019. Plant health: feedback effect of root exudates-rhizobiome interactions. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 103, 1155–1166. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-018-9556-6.
- Oldroyd, G.E.D., 2013. Speak, friend, and enter: signalling systems that promote beneficial symbiotic associations in plants. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 11, 252–263. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2990.
- Ouledali, S., Ennajeh, M., Zrig, A., Gianinazzi, S., Khemira, H., 2018. Estimating the contribution of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi to drought tolerance of potted olive trees (*Olea europaea*). Acta Physiol. Plant 40, 81. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11738-018-2656-1.
- Pandey, S.S., Singh, S., Babu, C.S.V., Shanker, K., Srivastava, N.K., Kalra, A., 2016a. Endophytes of opium poppy differentially modulate host plant productivity and genes for the biosynthetic pathway of benzylisoquinoline alkaloids. Planta 243, 1097–1114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-016-2467-9.
- Pandey, V., Ansari, M.W., Tula, S., Yadav, S., Sahoo, R.K., Shukla, N., Bains, G., Badal, S., Chandra, S., Gaur, A.K., Kumar, A., Shukla, A., Kumar, J., Tuteja, N., 2016b. Dose-dependent response of *Trichoderma harzianum* in improving drought tolerance in rice genotypes. Planta 243, 1251–1264. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00425-016-2482-x.
- Pathan, S.I., Ceccherini, M.T., Sunseri, F., Lupini, A., 2020. Rhizosphere as Hotspot for Plant-Soil-Microbe Interaction, in: Datta, R., Meena, R.S., Pathan, S.I., Ceccherini, M.T. (Eds.), Carbon and Nitrogen Cycling in Soil. Springer, Singapore, pp. 1743. 10.1007/978-981-13-7264-3_2.
- Patil, S., Nikam, M., Anokhina, T., Kochetkov, V., Chaudhari, A., 2017. Multi-stress tolerant plant growth promoting *Pseudomonas* spp. MCC 3145 producing cytostatic and fungicidal pigment. Biocatal. Agricult. Biotechnol. 10, 53–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab.2017.02.006.
- Pavithra, D., Yapa, N., 2018. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi inoculation enhances drought stress tolerance of plants. Groundwater Sustain. Dev. 7, 490–494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gsd.2018.03.005.

Pavithra, N., Sathish, L., Ananda, K., 2012. Antimicrobial and enzyme activity of endophytic fungi isolated from Tulsi. J. Pharm. Biomed. Sci. (JPBMS) 16, 2014.

- Pellati, F., Epifano, F., Contaldo, N., Orlandini, G., Cavicchi, L., Genovese, S., Bertelli, D., Benvenuti, S., Curini, M., Bertaccini, A., 2011. Chromatographic methods for metabolite profiling of virus-and phytoplasma-infected plants of *Echinacea purpurea*. J. Agric. Food. Chem. 59, 10425–10434.
- Quadt-Hallmann, A., Hallmann, J., Kloepper, J.W., 1997. Bacterial endophytes in cotton: location and interaction with other plant-associated bacteria. Can. J. Microbiol. 43, 254–259. https://doi.org/10.1139/m97-035.
- Radax, R., Hoffmann, F., Rapp, H.T., Leininger, S., Schleper, C., 2012. Ammoniaoxidizing archaea as main drivers of nitrification in cold-water sponges. Environ. Microbiol. 14, 909–923. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02661.x.
- Radhakrishnan, R., Khan, A.L., Lee, I.-J., 2013. Endophytic fungal pre-treatments of seeds alleviates salinity stress effects in soybean plants. J. Microbiol. 51, 850– 857. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12275-013-3168-8.
- Requena, N., Jimenez, I., Toro, M., Barea, J.M., 1997. Interactions between plantgrowth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR), arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and *Rhizobium* spp. in the rhizosphere of Anthyllis cytisoides, a model legume for revegetation in mediterranean semi-arid ecosystems. New Phytol. 136, 667– 677. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.1997.00786.x.
- Rosenberg, K., Bertaux, J., Krome, K., Hartmann, A., Scheu, S., Bonkowski, M., 2009. Soil amoebae rapidly change bacterial community composition in the rhizosphere of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. ISME J. 3, 675–684. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ismej.2009.11.
- Rudrappa, T., Czymmek, K.J., ParÕ, P.W., Bais, H.P., 2008. Root-secreted malic acid recruits beneficial soil bacteria. Plant Physiol 148, 1547–1556. https://doi.org/ 10.1104/pp.108.127613.
- Ruiz-Lozano, J.M., 2003. Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis and alleviation of osmotic stress. New perspectives for molecular studies. Mycorrhiza 13, 309– 317. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-003-0237-6.
- Ruiz-Lozano, J.M., Aroca, R., Zamarrebo, ê.M., Molina, S., Andreo-JimÕnez, B., Porcel, R., GarcÚa-Mina, J.M., Ruyter-Spira, C., Lœpez-RÃez, J.A., 2016. Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis induces strigolactone biosynthesis under drought and improves drought tolerance in lettuce and tomato: Drought and AM symbiosis

induce strigolactones. Plant Cell Environ 39, 441-452. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12631.

- Saddique, M.A.B., Ali, Z., Khan, A.S., Rana, I.A., Shamsi, I.H., 2018. Inoculation with the endophyte Piriformospora indica significantly affects mechanisms involved in osmotic stress in rice. Rice 11, 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12284-018-0226-1.
- Safari, M., Ferrari, M.J., Roossinck, M.J., 2019. Manipulation of aphid behavior by a persistent plant virus. J. Virol. 93. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01781-18.
- Saldajeno, M.G.B., Chandanie, W.A., Kubota, M., Hyakumachi, M., 2008. Effects of Interactions of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi and Beneficial Saprophytic Mycoflora on Plant Growth and Disease Protection, in: Siddiqui, Z.A., Akhtar, Mohd.S., Futai, K. (Eds.), Mycorrhizae: Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 211226. 10.1007/978-1-4020-8770-7_9.
- Santander, C., Sanhueza, M., Olave, J., Borie, F., Valentine, A., Cornejo, P., 2019. *Arbuscular Mycorrhizal* colonization promotes the tolerance to salt stress in lettuce plants through an efficient modification of ionic balance. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 19, 321–331. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42729-019-00032-z.
- Scheu, S., Parkinson, D., 1994. Effects of invasion of an aspen forest (Canada) by Dendrobaena Octaedra (Lumbricidae) on plant growth. Ecology 75, 2348–2361. https://doi.org/10.2307/1940889.
- Shafigh, M., Hamidpour, M., Abbaszadeh-Dahaji, P., Mozafari, V., Furrer, G., 2019. Bioavailability of Zn from layered double hydroxides: the effects of plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR). Appl. Clay Sci. 182, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.clay.2019.105283 105283.
- Shapiro, L.R., Salvaudon, L., Mauck, K.E., Pulido, H., Moraes, C.M.D., Stephenson, A.G., Mescher, M.C., 2013. Disease interactions in a shared host plant: effects of preexisting viral infection on cucurbit plant defense responses and resistance to bacterial wilt disease. PLoS ONE 8, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0077393 e77393.
- Sharma, V.K., Nowak, J., 1998. Enhancement of verticillium wilt resistance in tomato transplants by *in vitro* co-culture of seedlings with a plant growth promoting rhizobacterium (*Pseudomonas* sp. strain PsJN). Can. J. Microbiol. 44, 528–536. https://doi.org/10.1139/w98-017.
- Shen, H., Christie, P., Li, X., 2006. Uptake of zinc, cadmium and phosphorus by arbuscular mycorrhizal maize (Zea mays L) from a low available phosphorus calcareous soil spiked with zinc and cadmium. Environ. Geochem. Health 28, 111–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10653-005-9020-2.
- Sheng, M., Tang, M., Zhang, F., Huang, Y., 2011. Influence of arbuscular mycorrhiza on organic solutes in maize leaves under salt stress. Mycorrhiza 21, 423–430. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-010-0353-z.
- Sherameti, I., Shahollari, B., Venus, Y., Altschmied, L., Varma, A., Oelm≈ller, R., 2005. The endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica* stimulates the expression of nitrate reductase and the starch-degrading enzyme glucan-water dikinase in tobacco and *Arabidopsis* roots through a homeodomain transcription factor that binds to a conserved motif in their promoters. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 26241–26247. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M500447200.
- Shivanna, M.B., Meera, M.S., Kageyama, K., Hyakumachi, M., 1996. Growth promotion ability of *zoysia grass* rhizosphere fungi in consecutive plantings of wheat and soybean. Mycoscience 37, 163–168. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF02461341.
- Shivanna, M.B., Meera, M.S., Kubota, M., Hyakumachi, M., 2005. Promotion of growth and yield in cucumber by *Zoysia grass* rhizosphere fungi. Microbes Environ. 20, 34–40. https://doi.org/10.1264/jsme2.20.34.
- Shukla, P.S., Agarwal, P.K., Jha, B., 2012. Improved salinity tolerance of *Arachishypogaea* (L.) by the interaction of halotolerant plant-growthpromoting rhizobacteria. J. Plant Growth Regul 31, 195–206. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00344-011-9231-y.
- Siddaiah, C.N., Satyanarayana, N.R., Mudili, V., Kumar Gupta, V., Gurunathan, S., Rangappa, S., Huntrike, S.S., Srivastava, R.K., 2017. Elicitation of resistance and associated defense responses in *Trichoderma hamatum* induced protection against pearl millet downy mildew pathogen. Sci. Rep. 7, 43991. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/srep43991.
- Simon, H.M., Smith, K.P., Dodsworth, J.A., Guenthner, B., Handelsman, J., Goodman, R.M., 2001. Influence of tomato genotype on growth of inoculated and indigenous bacteria in the spermosphere. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67, 514– 520. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.67.2.514-520.2001.
 Singh, J.S., Pandey, V.C., Singh, D.P., 2011. Efficient soil microorganisms: a new
- Singh, J.S., Pandey, V.C., Singh, D.P., 2011. Efficient soil microorganisms: a new dimension for sustainable agriculture and environmental development. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 140, 339–353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2011.01.017.
- Sokolova, M.G., Akimova, G.P., Vaishlya, O.B., 2011. Effect of phytohormones synthesized by rhizosphere bacteria on plants. Appl. Biochem. Microbiol. 47, 274. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0003683811030148.
- Solano, B.R., Maicas, J.B., Maþero, F.G., 2008. Physiological and molecular mechanisms of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR). Plant-bacteria interactions. In: strategies and techniques to promote plant growth. Wiley, Weinheim, Germany, pp. 41–52.
- Somasundaram, S., Bonkowski, M., Iijima, M., 2008. Functional role of mucilage border cells: a complex facilitating protozoan effects on plant growth. Plant Prod. Sci. 11, 344–351. https://doi.org/10.1626/pps.11.344.
- Song, J., Dong, F., Jiang, J., 2000. Construction of a bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) library for potato molecular cytogenetics research. Genome 43, 199–204.
- Tabrizi, L., Mohammadi, S., Delshad, M., Moteshare Zadeh, B., 2015. Effect of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal fungi on yield and phytoremediation performance of pot marigold (*Calendula officinalis* L.) under heavy metals stress. Int. J. Phytorem. 17, 1244–1252. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2015.1045131.

- Taffner, J., Erlacher, A., Bragina, A., Berg, C., Moissl-Eichinger, C., Berg, G., 2018. What is the role of Archaea in plants? New insights from the vegetation of alpine bogs, MSphere, p. 3.
- Teimoori-Boghsani, Y., Ganjeali, A., Cernava, T., M≈ller, H., Asili, J., Berg, G., 2020. Endophytic fungi of native Salvia abrotanoides plants reveal high taxonomic diversity and unique profiles of secondary metabolites. Front. Microbiol. 10, 3013. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.03013.
- Terhonen, E., Sipari, N., Asiegbu, F.O., 2016. Inhibition of phytopathogens by fungal root endophytes of Norway spruce. Biol. Control 99, 53–63. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biocontrol.2016.04.006.
- Thaler, J.S., Agrawal, A.A., Halitschke, R., 2010. Salicylate-mediated interactions between pathogens and herbivores. Ecology 91, 1075–1082. https://doi.org/ 10.1890/08-2347.1.
- Tkacz, A., Cheema, J., Chandra, G., Grant, A., Poole, P.S., 2015. Stability and succession of the rhizosphere microbiota depends upon plant type and soil composition. The ISME Journal 9, 2349–2359. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ismej.2015.41.
- Tokala, R.K., Strap, J.L., Jung, C.M., Crawford, D.L., Salove, M.H., Deobald, L.A., Bailey, J.F., Morra, M.J., 2002. Novel plant-microbe rhizosphere interaction involving streptomyces lydicus WYEC108 and the Pea Plant (*Pisum sativum*). Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 2161–2171. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.68.5.2161-2171.2002.
- Treusch, A.H., Leininger, S., Kletzin, A., Schuster, S.C., Klenk, H.-P., Schleper, C., 2005. Novel genes for nitrite reductase and Amo-related proteins indicate a role of uncultivated mesophilic crenarchaeota in nitrogen cycling. Environ. Microbiol. 7, 1985–1995. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2005.00906.x.
- Unno, Y., Okubo, K., Wasaki, J., Shinano, T., Osaki, M., 2005. Plant growth promotion abilities and microscale bacterial dynamics in the rhizosphere of Lupin analysed by phytate utilization ability. Environ. Microbiol. 7, 396–404. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2004.00701.x.
- Valentine, D.L., 2007. Adaptations to energy stress dictate the ecology and evolution of the Archaea. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 5, 316–323. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrmicro1619.
- van Molken, T., de Caluwe, H., Hordijk, C.A., Leon-Reyes, A., Snoeren, T.A.L., van Dam, N.M., Stuefer, J.F., 2012. Virus infection decreases the attractiveness of white clover plants for a non-vectoring herbivore. Oecologia 170, 433–444. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00442-012-2322-z.
- VelÃzquez, E., Peix, A., Zurdo-Piþeiro, J.L., Palomo, J.L., Mateos, P.F., Rivas, R., Muþoz-Adelantado, E., Toro, N., GarcÚa-Benavides, P., MartÚnez-Molina, E., 2005. The coexistence of symbiosis and pathogenicity-determining genes in Rhizobium rhizogenes strains enables them to induce nodules and tumors or hairy roots in plants. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 18, 1325–1332. https://doi.org/10.1094/ MPMI-18-1325.
- Venugopalan, A., Srivastava, S., 2015. Endophytes as *in vitro* production platforms of high value plant secondary metabolites. Biotechnol. Adv. 33, 873–887. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2015.07.004.
- Vercauteren, I., Van Der Schueren, E., Van Montagu, M., Gheysen, G., 2001. Arabidopsis thaliana genes expressed in the early compatible interaction with root-knot nematodes. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 14, 288–299. https://doi.org/ 10.1094/MPMI.2001.14.3.288.
- Vessey, J.K., 2003. Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria as biofertilizers. Plant Soil 255, 571–586. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026037216893.
- van de Vossenberg, J.L.C.M., Driessen, A.J.M., Konings, W.N., 1998. The essence of being extremophilic: the role of the unique archaeal membrane lipids. Extremophiles 3, 163–170.
- Waller, F., Achatz, B., Baltruschat, H., Fodor, J., Becker, K., Fischer, M., Heier, T., Huckelhoven, R., Neumann, C., von Wettstein, D., Franken, P., Kogel, K.-H., 2005. The endophytic fungus Piriformospora indica reprograms barley to salt-stress tolerance, disease resistance, and higher yield. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 102, 13386– 13391. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0504423102.
- Wang, J., Li, T., Liu, G., Smith, J.M., Zhao, Z., 2016. Unraveling the role of dark septate endophyte (DSE) colonizing maize (*Zea mays*) under cadmium stress: physiological, cytological and genic aspects. Sci. Rep. 6, 22028. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/srep22028.
- Wang, J., Zheng, L.-P., Tan, R.-X., 2006. The preparation of an elicitor from a fungal endophyte to enhance artemisinin production in hairy root cultures of Artemisia annua L. Sheng Wu Gong Cheng Xue Bao 22, 829–834.
- Waqas, M., Khan, A.L., Hamayun, M., Shahzad, R., Kang, S.-M., Kim, J.-G., Lee, I.-J., 2015. Endophytic fungi promote plant growth and mitigate the adverse effects of stem rot: an example of *Penicillium citrinum* and *Aspergillus terreus*. J. Plant Interact. 10, 280–287. https://doi.org/10.1080/17429145.2015.1079743.
- Wardle, D.A., Bardgett, R.D., Klironomos, J.N., Setölö, H., van der Putten, W.H., Wall, D.H., 2004. Ecological linkages between aboveground and belowground biota. Science 304, 1629–1633. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1094875.
- Wardle, D.A., Yeates, G.W., Watson, R.N., Nicholson, K.S., 1995. The detritus foodweb and the diversity of soil fauna as indicators of disturbance regimes in agroecosystems. Plant Soil 170, 35–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02183053.
- Westwood, J.H., Mccann, L., Naish, M., Dixon, H., Murphy, A.M., Stancombe, M.A., Bennett, M.H., Powell, G., Webb, A.A.R., Carr, J.P., 2013. A viral RNA silencing suppressor interferes with abscisic acid-mediated signalling and induces drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Mol. Plant Pathol 14, 158–170. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1364-3703.2012.00840.x.
- Will, M.E., Sylvia, D.M., 1990. Interaction of rhizosphere bacteria, fertilizer, and vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi with sea oats. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 56, 2073–2079.

- Wu, J.-T., Wang, L., Zhao, L., Huang, X.-C., Ma, F., 2020. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi effect growth and photosynthesis of *Phragmites australis* (Cav.) Trin ex. Steudel under copper stress. Plant Biol. J. 22, 62–69. https://doi.org/10.1111/plb.13039.
- Wuchter, C., Abbas, B., Coolen, M.J.L., Herfort, L., van Bleijswijk, J., Timmers, P., Strous, M., Teira, E., Herndl, G.J., Middelburg, J.J., Schouten, S., DamstÕ, J.S.S., 2006. Archaeal nitrification in the ocean. PNAS 103, 12317–12322. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0600756103.
- Wurst, S., Jones, T.H., 2003. Indirect effects of earthworms (*Aporrectodea caliginosa*) on an above-ground tritrophic interaction. Pedobiologia 47, 91–97. https://doi. org/10.1078/0031-4056-00173.
- Xiong, W., Song, Y., Yang, K., Gu, Y., Wei, Z., Kowalchuk, G.A., Xu, Y., Jousset, A., Shen, Q., Geisen, S., 2020. Rhizosphere protists are key determinants of plant health. Microbiome 8, 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-020-00799-9.
- Xu, P., Chen, F., Mannas, J.P., Feldman, T., Sumner, L.W., Roossinck, M.J., 2008. Virus infection improves drought tolerance. New Phytol. 180, 911–921. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02627.x.
- Yadav, A.N., Sharma, D., Gulati, S., Singh, S., Dey, R., Pal, K.K., Kaushik, R., Saxena, A. K., 2015. Haloarchaea endowed with phosphorus solubilization attribute implicated in phosphorus cycle. Sci. Rep. 5, 1–10.
- Yadav, A.N., Verma, P., Kaushik, R., Dhaliwal, H.S., Saxena, A.K., 2017. Archaea endowed with plant growth promoting attributes. EC Microbiol. 8, 294–298.
- Yan, L., Zhu, J., Zhao, X., Shi, J., Jiang, C., Shao, D., 2019. Beneficial effects of endophytic fungi colonization on plants. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 103, 3327–3340. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-019-09713-2.
- Yao, Y.Q., Lan, F., Qiao, Y.M., Wei, J.G., Huang, R.S., Li, L.B., 2017. Endophytic fungi harbored in the root of *Sophora tonkinensis* Gapnep: Diversity and biocontrol potential against phytopathogens. MicrobiologyOpen 6,. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/mbo3.437 e00437.

- Yuan, J., Zhang, W., Sun, K., Tang, M.-J., Chen, P.-X., Li, X., Dai, C.-C., 2019. Comparative transcriptomics and proteomics of *Atractylodes lancea* in response to endophytic *Fungus Gilmaniella* sp. AL12 reveals regulation in plant metabolism. Front. Microbiol. 10, 1208. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmicb.2019.01208.
- Zaouchi, Y., Rezgui, S., Bettaieb, T., 2015. Potential of arbuscular mycorrhization and fertilizer application in the improvement of the status nutrition and growth of *Jacaranda mimosifolia* D.Don grown under urban environment. J. New Sci. 21.
- Zeilinger, S., Gupta, V.K., Dahms, T.E.S., Silva, R.N., Singh, H.B., Upadhyay, R.S., Gomes, E.V., Tsui, C.K.-M., Nayak S, C., 2016. Friends or foes? Emerging insights from fungal interactions with plants. FEMS Microbiology Reviews 40, 182207. 10.1093/femsre/fuv045.
- Zhang, W., Wang, J., Xu, L., Wang, A., Huang, L., Du, H., Qiu, L., Oelm≈ller, R., 2018. Drought stress responses in maize are diminished by *Piriformospora indica*. Plant Signaling Behav. 13,. https://doi.org/10.1080/15592324.2017.1414121 e1414121.
- Zhang, Y., Li, Y., Guo, S., 2020. Effects of the mycorrhizal fungus Ceratobasidium sp. AR2 on growth and flavonoid accumulation in *Anoectochilus roxburghii*. PeerJ 8, https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.8346 e8346.
- Zhou, X., Fu, L., Xia, Y., Zheng, L., Chen, C., Shen, Z., Chen, Y., 2017. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi enhance the copper tolerance of Tagetes patula through the sorption and barrier mechanisms of intraradical hyphae. Metallomics 9, 936– 948. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7mt00072c.
- Zhu, X.C., Song, F.B., Liu, T.D., Liu, S.Q., 2010. Arbuscular mycorrhizae reducing water loss in maize plants under low temperature stress. Plant Signal Behav 5, 591– 593. https://doi.org/10.4161/psb.11498.